Editorial: 
HARASSMENT
Object of the Doctrine of the Sub-Convention Warfare of 2006, is to break the will of the people of Jammu and Kashmir by systematic and institutionalized repression, draconian legislations, by stifling the political dissent, and to inflict collective punishment. Torture, custodial killings, enforced disappearances and extra judicial executions are committed as a matter of policy and have a tacit and explicit approval from the state. They are not aberration as claimed by the Indian state, whenever, exposed but a designed process to cultivate fear and helplessness amongst the ordinary citizens in order to submit to the state, which is almighty, undeterred and can get away with everything and anything they have being doing elsewhere. Besides, these measures the economical strangulation has been used as a potent weapon for submitting the people which has worked to a larger extent. The clearance / NOC from different intelligence agencies in issuing the travel documents or getting the petty jobs even sometimes for the election and rations cards reflects how the `largest democracy’ functions. The people have become complacent to the government policies like participation in the elections and support the mainstream political parties. It is, therefore, not surprising that the Jamaat-i-Islami activists supported the CPM during elections. There are hundreds and thousands of cases where identity cards have been withheld to make gullible people do what they are otherwise not supposed to do.

Besides the administration, people at non-governmental level have been subjecting the commoner to harassment and humiliation. Kashmiri diaspora have been implicated in false and frivolous cases. At every level Kashmiri is being punished and this perpetual humiliation has become part of his life. The India media and civil society including the NGOs working with international organizations support the government. The NGOs get enormous money from the foreign foundations and have been misinforming their donors.  Instead of working on the projects which could mitigate the sufferings of the people, they promote government agenda with the money their donors raise from the tax payers in foreign countries.  The Indian civil society has observed criminal silence and is behaving like proverbial monkeys, which tantamount to acquiesce. The civil society subscribes to Indian government’s claim that Kashmir issue is a ‘communal issue’ and it will create more problems for Indian minorities, if Kashmir is granted independence, or it will set into motion the process of balkanization of Indian. 

Some exceptions that have audacity to speak the truth about Kashmir and are exposing the lies of the Indian state as conscientious objectors are dismissed as traitors, real enemies, agents and secessionists to be put on trial for sedition. The Indian corporate media portray and project every Kashmiris as a terrorist in the aftermath of terror attack anywhere in India. Media trials are being conducted routinely. 

The detenues are denied legal assistance by bar associations in different states. Bar associations have boycotted representing Kashmiri detenues and even the lawyers representing Kashmiri detenues are being manhandled. In jails, they (detenues) are being mal-treated, selectively tortured, and no human rights organizations come to their rescue. The role of the Hindu extremist groups who are increasingly getting stronger in India, the less said the better. They are well-organized in embarrassing Kashmiri diaspora. India is a state perpetuating the culture of sadism. It is continuing for last 20 years, without any success, to submit the Kashmiris, on the contrary it has further isolated the section of Kashmiris who have still illusion about Indian secularism, democracy, vibrant civil society and rule of law. Except the privileged Kashmiri elite having no contacts with ordinary Kashmiri, the majority of the Kashmir diaspora in India are increasingly getting disillusioned. And are fed up, now used to it, as they have no other option. India as a state, nevertheless, has resorted to these measures but has not achieved the objects.  

The younger generation is more vocal, uncompromising, defiant, and conscious of their political rights having more exposure to the nationalist movements’ world over. The plebiscite is the issue of generations and every generation cannot be domesticated, subdued and submitted. The Indian policy makers also realize this.  Every time they claim a major breakthrough, something happens to make them realize that a lot more needs to be done to tame Kashmiris.   An Indian diplomat believes that the determination of a people could be broken by taking stern measures. Addressing a seminar he made a mention of Tiananmen Square.  Yes China crushed dissent brutally but history bears testimony to the fact that people’s aspirations can’t be crushed by repressive measures undertaken by the state and non-state actors. Time can only tell.  Suppressed volcano makes its way. Nobody had expected an uprising in June. This was a time when everybody believed that Kashmiris had been neutralized. After almost neutralizing the militancy in the state the Indian govt. is caught in a syndrome called as “Car Dog Syndrome”, a syndrome in which a dog chases the car without thinking what it will do even if it catches with it up.

Unless, there is no political, economical and social justice; unless the sources and causes of the conflict are not addressed nothing is going to change. Winning a battle doesn’t necessarily pave way for winning a war.      
ATTACK ON CO-CONVENER OF PEOPLES’ TRIBUNAL KASHMIR

In the night of June 30, the state forces attempted to assassinate Advocate Parvez Imroz, co-convener of the International People's Tribunal on Human Rights and Justice in Kashmir and president of Jammu Kashmir Coalition Of Civil Society at his house in Kralpora, Budgam, around 8 kms from Srinagar. The troopers fired outside his house and also hurled a grenade, which exploded in the courtyard without causing any damage. The attack appalled the rights activists both within and outside the state. The attack was strongly condemned by the different human rights activists and organisations from all over the world. Next day the tribunal members including Advocate Parvez Imroz held a press conference and briefed media persons with the following statement: 

Advocate Parvez Imroz's Statement:
On 30 June 2008, at 10.10 pm, when Parvez Imroz and his family was about to retire for the evening, Roksana, his wife informed him that there was a knock at the front door. She was extremely afraid, given the two prior assassination attempts on Advocate Imroz's life. She and Advocate Imroz asked 'Who are you?' to those at the front door. They responded aggressively, asking Advocate Imroz by name to open the door. Advocate Imroz was apprehensive after the intimidation of the Tribunal last week when it was undertaking a fact-finding on mass graves in Baramulla and Kupwara. He went to another room at the back of the house and shouted across to his brother, Sheikh Mustaq Ahmad, who lived next door. Mr. Ahmad shined a torch at Advocate Imroz's door and asked the persons at the front door to identify themselves. The persons knocking at the door very aggressively asked Mr. Ahmad to shut off the torch. Meanwhile, Advocate Imroz's nephew came out of Mr. Ahmad's house and ran toward Advocate Imroz's house, fearful, as he stated later, that Advocate Imroz was being taken by the army. 

Then, the perpetrators fired one shot in the dark, and it appeared that shot was fired in the direction that Advocate Imroz's nephew was coming from. The lights down the path had been broken. 

After seconds, the perpetrators threw a grenade in Advocate Imroz's compound outside his front door, which exploded into a fireball. They also threw a tear gas and fired two blank shots while leaving.

The perpetrators left at around approximately 10.30 pm. On the way, the perpetrators beat one male neighbour.

Meanwhile, community members had made an announcement from the village mosque, and people had gathered down the path. The villagers also stated that they had seen one large armoured vehicle and two Gypsy cars, and men in CRPF (Central Reserve Police Force) uniform and SOG (Special Operations Group) uniform. 

In response to this appeal, many human rights groups have appealed to the government of Indian-administered Kashmir to protect the award-winning human rights activist Parvez Imroz. They condemned the attack carried by the Indian troopers.


 US- based Human Rights Watch in its release said that the state government and Human Rights Commission should launch an immediate and thorough investigation into the attack and take criminal action against those responsible.” The Kashmir government should investigate whether the attack on Imroz was related to his work,” said Meenakshi Ganguly, senior South Asia researcher at Human Rights Watch. “All members of the security forces found responsible, no matter how far up the chain of command should be prosecuted.”  Whereas, Amnesty International in its release stated the attack is an attempt to halt an ongoing inquiry into unmarked graves in Jammu and Kashmir, believed to contain victims of unlawful killings, enforced disappearances, tortures and other abuses


The Asian Federation Against Involuntary Disappearances (AFAD) strongly condemns the latest threat to the life of Attorney Parvez Imroz. AFAD challenges the government of India to ‘fully investigate the incident and punish the perpetrators to the full extent of the law’; ‘ Ensure that there would be no further threats to Mr. Imroz’ life and that full protection be accorded to him and all other human rights defenders in Kashmir’; ‘Fully investigate the skeletons inside the closet manifested in the identified mass graves in the above-mentioned areas which was the reason for the establishment of the International People’s Tribunal on Human Rights’.


 Protection of Human Rights Defenders Front Line in its release said,” Front Line believes that Advocate Parvez Imroz has been targeted as a result of his legitimate work in the defense of human rights, in particular his work against institutionalised violence and human rights violations in Indian-administered Kashmir. Front Line is concerned for the physical and psychological integrity of Advocate Parvez Imroz, his family and all members of the Tribunal team”.

Srinagar based Peoples Tribunal Condemns the assignation attempt on the life of Imroz. Tribunal co-convener Dr Angana Chatterji said, “The attempt to assassinate Advocate Imroz is cowardly and brutal. The act of the police displays the arrogance and the state of exception in place in Indian administrated Kashmir. This attempt is to halt the International People’s tribunal from continuing its work.”


In Delhi different HR groups staged a protest against attack on Parvez Imroz. Coordination of Democratic Rights Organizations condemns the murderous attack. “The attack on Parvez Imroz comes barely ten days after he and his colleagues were accosted on 20th June 2008 by J&K police when they were returning from Kupwara where they had gone to investigate "unidentified" graves”, stated the press release. The fact-finding is part of the effort to unravel the mystery of enforced disappearance of 8-10,000 persons since 1990 in J&K. There is some reason to believe that the answer may be lying buried in the "mass graves" in Uri district. We fear that the attempted attack on him could be linked to thwart further investigations into this matter. We are concerned that elected governments have shown a propensity to wink at these lawless activities and are unwilling to clamp down on them. IDHAE (European Bar Human Rights Institute Attorney urgent alert) condemns the attack. The IDHAE has asked international attention for the situation, and also calls for writing letters to the Indian President. They urge the authorities in India to, carry out an immediate through and impartial investigation into the attempted assassination of Imroz with a view to publishing the result and bringing those responsible to justice in accordance with international standards; take all necessary measures to guarantee the physical and psychological security and integrity of Imroz his family and other members of Tribunal team; Guarantee in all circumstances that human rights activities without fear of reprisals, and free of all restrictions including judicial harassment. In another letter Shabnam Hashmi member National Integration Council, addressed Chief Minster of J&K and urge him to conduct a prompt and impartial investigation into the attack and punish the guilty.  

Columbia Law School also expressed deep concern about the attack on Imroz. In a letter they strongly urge Government of India and State government to investigate the incident and take all steps necessary to ensure the safety of Imroz and his family. Human Rights First also showed their concern at the lack of safety of internationally recognized Kashmiri human rights activist Parvez Imroz. HRF stated it is responsibility of the paramilitary and state security Forces of Kashmir to protect Mr Imroz from such attacks and ensure the safety of his personnel and his offices. Jammu Kashmir Bar Association suspended one day’s work in the courts in protest against the murderous assault against Imroz. The Bar condemns the dastardly act and said that these attacks cannot break the will and determination of Imroz to highlight human rights violation.  
EU PARLIAMENT HEARS KASHMIR GRAVE CASE

INDIAN EMBASSY SKIPS PROCEEDINGS, EMMA NICHOLSON OPPOSES

July 17: The Indian embassy remained absent at European Parliament’s first ever hearing of the two main issues of Kashmir – the discovery of mass graves and human rights violations, which continued till late night on July 15 at Brussels while EP member Emma Nicholson opposed the report of the presence of mass graves saying the bodies inside the graves could be of militants. The hearing was seen live in Srinagar through video conferencing, which was organized by the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS).

The Indian embassy was upset over the inclusion of the mass graves issue at the EP. 

The Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) an important constituent of JKCCS had discovered around 1000 graves in north Kashmir’s Uri area alone following which many international human rights organizations criticized New Delhi for its miserable human rights record in Kashmir, where around 1 lakh people have been killed and over 10,000 disappeared since 1989, year when armed struggle started in the region.

On July 16, the issue of mass graves and human rights violation in Kashmir came up for the hearing in the EP’s Sub-Committee following a historic resolution passed by the EP on July 10 after a letter of Amnesty International about the report ‘Facts Under Ground’ of the JKCCS was submitted to the EP.

The JKCCS head Parvez Imroz, who was invited by the EP to participate in the hearing could not participate in person since the authorities are not giving him a passport. However, Imroz expressed his views through video conferencing. The members of the EP present in the hearing included EP members Phillip Bushill-Mathews, R. Evans, Neena Gill, Gene Lambert, Sara Ludford, Liz Lynn, Baroness Emma Nicholson and Tannock.

“The Indian embassy was also invited to participate in the hearing to put-forth their views on the issue of mass graves and human rights violations but it preferred to stay away. According to the diplomats, the Indian embassy remained absent in protest against this subject (mass graves) being accorded a prominent place on the EP's agenda,” JKCCS head Pervez Imroz said.

He said he gave a detailed description about the investigations carried by the JKCCS about the discovery of mass graves. “I also spoke in-depth about the climate of fear and the threat that human rights defenders are facing in Kashmir. Besides, I also spoke about the severe breakdown of law and order in Kashmir,” he said. “I appealed to the international community to track human right situation in Kashmir carefully and set up a mechanism needed to address these issues.”

JKCCS programme coordinator Khuram Pervez said, EP member Baroness Emma Nicolson strongly opposed the report ‘Facts Under Ground’ stating that since the mass graves were found near the area that lies close to the Line of Control (LoC), there was every possibility that those buried in the mass graves were militants.

“Through video conferencing, we conveyed to the EP that Nicolson’s claim was wrong given the fact that the most of the villages where mass graves were found were more than 30 km from the Line of Control,” Pervez said.

Imroz said coming up of the issues of human rights of Kashmir in EP was a big achievement as it was for the first time in the history of Kashmir.

“There was a detailed discussion in the EP hearing. Member speakers expressed their views. We too expressed our point of view. There may be more hearings in the near future regarding these two issues,” he said. “This would convey to the entire world what the present situation in Kashmir is when it comes to human rights violations.” 

In the hearing, the members from the ‘International Peoples Tribunal on Human Rights and Justice in Indian administered Kashmir’, who were present in person, were Angana Chatterji and Marjan Lucas.

According to the statement issued by the JKCCS, Chatterji described the Tribunal’s mandate, structure and work and offered a detailed testimony of the gravity of human rights situation in Kashmir.

“She described the Tribunal's investigation of nearly 940 mass graves in June 2008 and showed video clips of mass graves from north Kashmir’s Baramulla and Kupwara districts before the members of the EP,” the statement said.

 “She described the continued militarisation and impunity with which military and paramilitary troopers function in Kashmir and the rule of exception and draconian laws here.”

RC B6-0349/2008

JOINT RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT,

- having regard to the recommendations of the ad hoc delegation of the European Parliament, following its visits to Kashmir from 8 to 11 December 2003 and from 20 to 24 June 2004, 

- having regard to its Annual Report on Human Rights in the World 2005 and the EU's policy on the matter of 18 May 2006,

- having regard to its report on Kashmir: present situation and future prospects of 24 May 2007,

A. whereas it is reported that hundreds of unidentified graves have been discovered since 2006 in Jammu and Kashmir and whereas at least 940 bodies have reportedly been found in 18 villages in Uri district alone,

B. whereas the Srinagar-based Association of the Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) issued a report on 29 March 2008 indicating the existence of multiple graves in localities which, because of their proximity of the Line of Control with Pakistan, are not accessible without the specific permission of the security forces,

C. whereas - according to Human Rights' organisations - it cannot be excluded that the grave sites contain the remains of victims of unlawful killings, enforced disappearances, torture and other abuses which occurred in the context of armed conflict persisting in Jammu and Kashmir since 1989,

D. whereas estimates on numbers of persons having gone missing since 1989 vary greatly between associations of families of victims speaking of more than 8000 and the governmental authorities claiming less than 4000,

E. whereas a state police report of 2006 confirmed the deaths in custody of 331 persons and 111 enforced disappearances since 1989, 

F. whereas allegations of human rights violations continue despite the government of India's commitment in September 2005 to not tolerate human rights violations in Jammu and Kashmir any longer, 

G. whereas Parvez Imroz, an award-winning human rights lawyer, president of the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society and founder of the Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons, survived an armed attack on June 30 in Srinagar by alleged security forces members and whereas other members of the International Tribunal on Human Rights and Justice in Kashmir, which is being facilitated by the Association of the Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP), have reportedly been harassed,

1. Calls on the Government of India to urgently ensure independent and impartial investigations into all suspected sites of mass graves in Jammu and Kashmir and as an immediate first step to secure the grave sites in order to preserve the evidence;

2. Calls on the European Commission to offer financial and technical assistance to the Indian Government in the context of the Stability Instrument for such a thorough inquiry and possible further measures of conflict resolution in Kashmir;

3. Calls on the EU Member States to address the issue in the forthcoming dialogue on Human Rights, which is to take place in the second half of 2008; 

4. Expresses its concern for the safety of Pervez Imroz and other human rights activists who are investigating the unmarked graves and other allegations of human rights abuses in Jammu and Kashmir and calls on the Indian authorities to ensure their protection and allow them to operate without fear of harassment and violence; urges the authorities to conduct a prompt and impartial investigation into the attack on Imroz Pervez, to make the results public and to bring the responsible to justice;

5. Re-iterates its call on the Indian government and the state authorities to investigate all allegations of enforced disappearances; urges to assign a civilian prosecutor's office with the jurisdiction for all cases in which military, security or law enforcement agents are suspected of being involved, and to create a single public database of all persons who have gone missing and of all bodies who have been recovered; calls on EU Member States to facilitate and support all possible cooperation between the Indian and Pakistan Governments in relation to this investigation;

6. Calls on the state authorities to ensure that all detentions meet minimum requirement of international legal standards, proper treatment, registration and prosecution, prompt access to family members, lawyers and independent courts, as well as accountability for any violation of such procedures;

7. Strongly condemns unlawful killings, enforced disappearances, torture, rape and other human rights abuses which have occurred in Jammu and Kashmir since the beginning of the armed conflict in 1989; insists that the families of the victims are being granted full reparations;    

9. Calls on all Governments to ratify and implement the UN Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance without reservations, including declarations pursuant to Articles 31 and 32 to recognize the competence of the Committee on enforced Disappearances, and to ratify the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court;

10. Calls for full access to be granted to both sides of the Line of Control for the UN Special Rapporteurs under the terms of reference of the UN Special Procedures, notably the Special Rapporteur on Torture, on extra judicial, Summary or Arbitrary Executions and the UN Working Group on Enforced or Voluntary Disappearances; 

11. Re-iterates the call on the Lok Sabha to amend the Human Rights Protection Act in order to allow the National Human Rights Commission to investigate independently allegations of abuse by members of the armed forces;

12. Instructs its President to forward this resolution to the Council, the Commission, the Government and Parliament of India and of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, the Government and Parliament of the State of Jammu and Kashmir and the UN Secretary-General.
APDP WELCOMES EP’S RESOLUTION ON NAMELESS GRAVES

RELEASES PRESS STATEMENT
On July 28, Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) welcomes the European Parliament’s resolution passed on July 10 on the issues of nameless graves, enforced disappearances and against the attack on its legal advisor Adv. Parvez Imroz by the state agencies during its monthly sit in held at Muncipal Park, Srinagar. 

The APDP issued a press statement which read: The European Parliament’s resolution is a commitment of the international community in support of the human rights advocacy in Jammu and Kashmir. 

Enforced Disappearances is a human issue and needs a humanitarian response. APDP is against politicizing the issue, which is evident from the demands and modus operandi of the Association since its inception in 1994. APDP has been consistently demanding impartial investigation into all the allegations of disappearances in Jammu and Kashmir. Since 1998, APDP has demanded the appointment of the Commission under the Commission on Inquiries Act but the government hasn’t bothered to respond till date. On the one hand government of India is introducing new laws like Right to Information Act and on the other hand the family members of the disappeared have been denied any information regarding the whereabouts of their disappeared family members who have been subjected to the cruel phenomenon of enforced disappearance.

In Punjab, Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) had confirmed that police disappeared and then illegally cremated 2097 victims of fake encounters in Amritsar district alone. Though the 16 districts of Punjab were not investigated. When investigations against the enforced disappearances can take place in Punjab why not in Jammu and Kashmir. 

Enforced Disappearances is a global issue, but in democratic countries the governments respond by carrying out thorough investigations. In Jammu and Kashmir government has done nothing to probe the enforced disappearances, of course except for the statements of deniability and branding the demands of relatives of disappeared as propaganda. The failure of government and all its institutions whether executive or judiciary in delivering the justice has paved way for the international humanitarian intervention. European Parliament’s resolution or any international concern is the result of Indian indifference and not just the advocacy of human rights groups. Government of India by its indifferent and colloquial response is internationalizing the issue of enforced disappearance.

Instead of holding probes and commission to enquire the cases of enforced disappearances, which will enhance government’s credibility, they are resorting to threats and intimidations to neutralize the voices of dissent. The threats and intimidation neither have worked in past nor will in future. The struggle against the phenomenon of enforced disappearances shall continue…

NARBAL EXPLOSION AFTERMATH, SCORES TORTURED

In the aftermath of Narbal IED explosion that killed 10 army troopers and injuring many others on July 19, army’s 2 Rashtiya Rifles (RR) went on arrest spree, detained scores of youth and subsequently tortured them.  Locals alleged that the troops let loose reign of terror in the area and arrested scores of youth immediately after the blast. 

“They (army) mangled all the temporary structures at Tangmarg-Narbal crossing. The destroyed structures are of local corn and fruit sellers. Besides this they ransacked many residential houses,” said on-duty policeman who did not want to give his name.

The villagers alleged that the army detained more than 100 youth and tortured them at Gagarpora camp. The arrestees were mostly former militants. However, those who were not ex-militants were released later.

The villagers who were detained said that the Army threatened them of dire consequences.

“During interrogation, they (Army) told us that they have lost 10 of their men and they will now take revenge,” said Muhammad Ayub who had torture marks all over his body.

The locals also alleged that the Army men of 2 RR barged into their houses at the midnight and bundled more than 100 men into their vehicles. After subjecting them to severe interrogations, around 60 men were released while the remaining 40 were kept under detention.

The Informative Missive paid a visit to the area and came across families of two arrestees Mohammad Yousuf, 21 and Abdul Rehman Bhat, 41, an ex-militant. 

After the Narbal blast Mohammad Yousuf Dar, 21, an artisan, s/o late Abdul Gani of Chak Kawoosa, Narbal already a victim was picked up from his house by the troopers of 2 RR. He was taken to Gagarpora, Narbal camp where he was tortured severely. 

Just two months ago Yousuf was released on bail after serving two years in jail. According to his family he was arrested and implicated in a false militancy case and was booked under PSA for filing a case against his father’s killers (army and police), who killed him in custody in January 2005. 

Yousuf’s father was picked up from Gandhi Nagar, Jammu from a rented house for unknown reasons. He was picked up along with his business partner Abdul Majeed Wani by one Anzar, the then SHO of Police Station, Magam and an army Major Vikram. From Jammu they were ferried to the SOG camp, Magam where Yousuf’s father was tortured to death.  

Yousuf stated: “In the night of July 19 at around 11 pm I was called out from my house by our village head (Numberdar), Wali Mohammad Dar. After coming out I found a huge contingent of army. The team of the troopers was headed by the Subedhar of 2 RR camp, Gagarpora. My villagers call me Isa and at the time of raid the troopers asked me, are you Ishaq? I replied no and told them my real name is Yousuf alias Isa but not Ishaq. After listening this they bundled me in a Gypsy car and took me to the Gagarpora camp, Narbal. In the camp, I was taken into a room where Commanding Officer and Major of 2 RR were present. The officials enquired me that who did the blast? I answered, I don’t know. After this all my clothes were removed and then they brought a battery and an electric wire. They tied the wire with my two index fingers and gave electric shocks. During this process they kept on asking about the militants who trigged the blast. They also tempted me; if I reveal any name I would be rewarded but I incessantly pleaded my innocence and unawareness about the incident. They turned a deaf ear to my pleadings and tortured me continuously. The army Major also beat me on my biceps with a Bamboo stick. They coerced me to accept my involvement in the explosion but I refused.”

He added: “After the severe torture I fell unconscious and then shifted to a shed. There they tied my wrists by a rope with a pillar. Another boy namely Aijaz Ahmad was also kept tied with the same pillar. There were some army troopers who were drunk. They shouted on us as ‘you killed our colleagues’ and started to beat us mercilessly with sticks and the process continued for the whole night. The sticks were the parts of broken chairs and tables. They also blew on my left cheek and ear countlessly, which damaged my eardrum badly and nowadays some fluid is seeping out of my ear and now I am hard of hearing. I also got a major wound on the right knee and still I am not able to walk properly.  My hair and beard was also pulled and plucked. After the severe torture I was released on July 20 at around 1pm. They forcefully tried to get some names of persons in connection with the blast from me but I did not say anything because I had no knowledge about the militants. On 30th July I was again arrested but was released after the six hours questioning. This time Major Vickram asked me about the ear and knee injuries. I told him that during the night of July 19, the soldiers beaten me in the shed. He then asked me ‘ are you going to complain to the commanding officer about this’. I answered no, because I thought if I disclose this I would face further consequences. Then I preferred to remain silent.”

While recollecting his past Yousuf said: “I have already suffered a lot from different state agencies. My father was killed in custody in the first week of January 2005. He along with his business partners Abdul Majeed Wani and another person were working as embroidery artisans in Jammu and had rented a house at Gandhi Nagar, Jammu. In the first week of January 2005 my father along with his two business partners were picked from his rented house by the then SHO Police Station Magam namely, Anzar and an army Major namely, Vikram. From Jammu they had been bundled in a sumo vehicle, keeping them under the seats; they were brought to the SOG camp, Magam. There my father was handed over to army and his business associates were kept in the SOG camp. Then Next day my father was brought back to the SOG camp in a very critical condition. The army troopers told SOG personnel to keep my father warm because he was tortured brutally by them. My father according to Abdul Majeed was half dead and was not able to walk or talk. He was kept in the room where Abdul Majeed was already detained. When my father’s condition was very critical Abdul Majeed had told SOG personnel to protect him. Then the SOG personnel had taken my father out of that room. Then on third day, the SHO Anzar came to our village and took my uncle in his car and told him that my father died of torture. 

He added: “The SHO Anzar told my uncle not to disclose the matter and offered to meet our demands. But the news about my father’s killing enraged whole of our area and people plunged to the streets and started to protest. The protesters raised anti-police and anti-government slogans and demanded probe into the matter. First the SHO took my uncle to Police Control Room (PCR), Srinagar and at the movement my father’s post mortem was being conducted. Then he was taken to Deputy Commissioner’s (DC) office Budgam where Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Jala and Superintendent Police (SP) Amin Khan told him to pacify the protesters and our demands would be met.” 

After the strong protest in the Narbal area the DC Budgam ordered a probe into the matter and the eyewitness Abdul Majeed’s statement was recorded. When the enquiry started against Anzar and other accused. According to Yousuf SHO, Anzar had told the enquiry officer that he is not involved in the matter and further revealed that Chaudri Chauhan, a Sub-Inspector in the SOG camp Magam killed Abdul Gani. But when the enquiry officer had called Chaudri Chauhan he had told that SHO, Anzar killed Abdul Gani. The officers according to victim family were naming each other. 

Yousuf said: “After Anzar was attached in the case he visited our house and told us to withdraw the case and again offered us jobs of Special Police Officer (SPO) in the police department.” 

According to Yousuf on January 26 the SHO recruited him and his two brothers’, Mohammad Amin (22) and Mohammad Arif (16) as SPO’s in the police station Magam as SPO’s. The SHO had told him to visit twice in a month, first on the 15th of every month and the second on the day of collecting his and his brothers’ salary. After first month police sacked his elder brother on the pretext of his mental instability, as he was suffering from mental disorder. While as his younger brother and Yousuf got the salary of Rs.1500 each monthly. The process continued for few months but in the first week of August he went to receive his salary from the police station. There he was held by SOG personnel and was detained in the SOG camp Magam which is near to police station. 

“I was charged of having links with militancy and the SOG personnel entangled me in a false case. From SOG camp Magam I was taken to the Humhama SOG camp, where I was tortured brutally for around three weeks. In the Humhama camp Inspector Sidhu and Afadul Mujtaba asked me ‘are you associated with militancy? I repeatedly answered no. Then I was taken into a cell where Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP), Javaid Ahmad Matoo removed all my clothes and started torturing me. He stretched my legs and coerced to claim the responsibility of killing of some informer but I recurrently pleaded my innocence but to no avail. Then a heavy wooden roller was rolled on my legs particularly on my thighs. I was so severely tortured, at times I accepted my association with militancy and after some relaxation I was telling them that I lied. When SOG did not get anything from me, then DSP Javaid told me that he has enough weapons to portray me as a militant. After two weeks of torture the SOG made my arrest public and showed recovery of a pistol from me. The pistol was old and conked but the SOG personnel cleaned it and displayed it among their higher officials and media. After 17 days torture in the Humaham camp I was shifted to the central jail Srinagar and was booked under PSA.”

Yousuf served two years in different jails of the state under PSA and in the month of June 2008 he was released on bail.  According to Yousuf his mother died when he was a minor and his father was killed in custody and he himself was detained and booked under PSA. There was no other member in the family who could have fought for him. 

“After I was booked, SHO Anzar approached my uncle and had told him if we withdraw the case he would get me released and will provide me a job again.  Due to the compulsion and fear of further consequences my uncle met his demands and then bail was granted to me.”

His father’s case still lies pending in the court and now the Yousuf is following his own case. On one side he has to feed his two brothers and a youngest sister and on the other side he perplexed that what will he do after his bail will expire.

“Nowadays, I am scare of saying anything or even sharing my ordeal. I cannot move out of my village without the permission of police. I have to present myself in the police every week. I am worried about the fate of my brothers and my sister. I have become a silent sufferer. Nowadays, Anzar is posted in Pulwama district but still he approaches me for withdrawing the case against him.” grieved Yousuf 

Abdul Rehman Bhat, another victim resides at Goripora Narbal about 4 km from Yousuf’s house told The Informative Missive, “whenever, there was an incident of militancy he has to bear the brunt since he was once a militant. This is not new thing to me whenever some untoward incident takes place in my vicinity I am first to get arrested. I was picked up from my home on the pretext of investigation about the blast."

He said: "On the fateful day I was at my home and had come after a week long treatment at SHMS Hospital Srinagar, as I am suffering from Thyrax and hypertension. I was ailing, lying on bed. At evening 2 RR army personals accompanied by Numberdar of our village came to my home and picked me and took me to Gagerpora Narbal camp. There I was interrogated and tortured continuously for whole night. They beat me with lathis and gave electric currents with their portable machine after connecting wire to my toes, breast and private parts. They continuously asked about the blast despite knowing that I did not have any hand in it. They had deliberately taken me and other persons only to harass. I repeatedly pleaded my innocence but they did not listen. I was released next day at 1:30 pm".

   
 While talking to The Informative Missive, Rehman was afraid of giving the details of his torture; already he was taken by the army to 2 RR CO office, HMT on 28th of same month for giving details of torture to media persons on next day of his release. He said that at camp he was forced to give a statement before the camera that he did not met any torture in custody. 


He said that several other persons of his own village were also picked by army that evening who were either ex-militants or were working near the blast spot. Giving the names of few persons he said that he was held in camp with Chaspeed Ahmad (20), a tea staller near Narbal Chowk, Abdul Rahim Bhat (36) S/o Ghulam Mohammad a dailywager, Mohammad Ayub Bhat S/O Ghulam Mohammad Bhat, Abdul Majeed Bhat S/O Mohammad Sultan, Abdul Majeed Dar S/O Abdul Razaq Dar all released militants, Ghulam Mohammad Bhat (65) S/O Abdul Salam. 

He also said that several men working near the Narbal chowk as corncob vendors were also beaten after the blast, who he said are now afraid to go for work again.

This is not the first time that he was picked up and tortured after disassociating himself from militancy. He has been arrested several times by different state agencies and consequently tortured since he joined armed movement.

Abdul Rehman went to Muzaffarabad for arms training in March 1990 and returned in September of same year. He first joined Muslim Janbaz Force (MJF) and later joined Al Jihad outfit. He was arrested on 7th July 1992, by Gadwal regiment of Tatoo Ground Srinagar at Takanwari during crackdown. They took him to Tattoo Ground for one night and then shifted him to Badami Bagh Contonement for one month. 

Rehman claimed that for 8 to 10 days he was severely tortured at Badami Bagh. He said that he was stripped naked and was beaten continuously. His head was forcibly smashed with the wall several times and was dipped forcibly into the water. After gagging his mouth with cloth water was forcibly poured down into his body through his nostrils. He was beaten for the weapon which he never posses. 

From Badam Bagh he was shifted to JIC Srinagar for three months. “I was kept there along with 10 other persons in a small cell which could accommodate only three people. We were kept continuously in it for three months with only fifteen-minute relaxation in a day. During this period we were never taken to doctor for treatment even we were seriously injured. Instead they very often on the pretext of taking us to doctor for treatment took us into a torture room and torture us ruthlessly. They several times took me out of the cell to the torture room and beat me ruthlessly. They also gave electric current to my sensitive parts like fingers, nipples, toes and private parts,” said Rehman. 

From JIC they shifted him to Central Jail Srinagar for 18 months and from there to sub jail where from he was released after three months. During his whole detention period his family was allowed to meet him first time after one month of his arrest at Badam Bagh cantonment. 

After his release he did not join armed struggle again but started his normal life with fruit business. But this was not end of his woes he was picked up several times by different state agencies and tortured on trivial pretexts. 

He said, “I was once again picked up by SOG police Magam in 2004 that detained me for 5 hours and tortured me severely. After that I was picked up several times. Whenever there are any untoward incident in my area, every time I have to bear the brunt since I was once a militant.” 

 
His health has deteriorated with the severe tortures he was subjected to, he cannot do any physical work nowadays and is suffering from hypertension and overweight.

HINDU EXTREMISTS ON RAMPAGE
TARGETS KASHMIRIS ON NATIONAL HIGHWAY

In the wake of the Amarnath land issue the discriminate deadly assaults pin pointing Kashmiris by Hindu extremist groups sent shock waves to Kashmir valley. Kashmiris, mostly bus drivers bore the brunt of Amarnath land issue. The Hindu extremists were on rampage, lie in wait whenever any vehicle from Kashmir traveling Jammu - Srinagar national highway. The extremists not ever spare those who ferry Amarnath Yatra pilgrims. 

The Informative Missive compiled chronologically the incidents of violence committed against the Kashmiris traveling Jammu in the month of July. 

On July 2, four Kashmiris traveling in a Maruti car had a narrow escape when they were attacked by a fanatic mob in Udhampur town. 

Khursheed Ahmad Qazi who along with his three relatives was traveling in Maruti car (JK013-771) said his vehicle was stopped by a mob in Udhampur town. He said the mob carrying bamboo sticks attacked their vehicle “when they realized that we are Kashmiris.” 

Qazi, an employee with the Accountant General’s office, said the mob took away ATM cards, mobiles phones and other valuables from them and then thrashed them severely. Qazi said he managed to give them a slip and entered a police station. The concerned police personnel rushed to save other three persons. He said police later took them to a nearby hospital. 

The four persons were advised by police to rush back to Jammu and take a plane to Kashmir on July 3. He said the mob damaged their vehicle and then pushed it towards a gorge. Ahead of them was a Sumo carrying Kashmiri passengers. He said the mob dragged them out of the vehicle and beat them severely. “The mob tried to set the Sumo on fire. I don’t know what happened to them,” he said. 

Qazi said one of the persons from the mob had called from his mobile to his home and told his family that al four boarding the Maruti have died in an accident. 

“When we reached Jammu, we had nothing. But in Jammu we managed to get money and on July 4 we reached home by plane,” Qazi said.

On July 8, the drivers of State Road Transport Corporation (SRTC) who are ferrying Amarnath pilgrims have come under attack from the Hindu extremists in different areas of Jammu province. 

“The Hindu extremists not only attack Kashmiris without any rhyme or reason but also torch and damage our vehicles,” Muhammad Sadiq and Abdul Rashid Dar told media. Recalling the assault by the Hindu extremists at Udhampur and other areas of Jammu region, Sadiq said he left for Jammu on July 1 with a bus full of yatris who had returned from the cave shrine after ‘darshan.’

On reaching Udhampur around 11 pm, Sadiq said, a mob comprising hundreds of extremists carrying knifes, iron rods and sticks intercepted his vehicle (No. JK01Y/338) and ordered him to stop.

“They asked me to prove my identification; as soon as they learnt that I’m a Kashmiri they dragged me out of the vehicle and hit me with iron rods and sticks till I went unconscious," Sadiq said, adding, “Before leaving they said they will kill every Kashmiri no matter if he is Sikh, Pandit or Muslim."

When the mob was beating him, Sadiq said, the yatris on board did not intervene fearing for their safety. “Later I drove the vehicle towards Jammu even though my body was aching,” he said, showing his body bearing visible bruises. Despite remaining without salary for the past six months, the SRTC drivers serve thousands of Amarnath yatris. “But apart from abuses and beating, what do we get in return?" Sadiq asked.

And when he was returning to the Valley the next day, a Hindu mob tried to stop his vehicle at Nagrota. “But fearing for my life I didn’t stop and kept going till I reached Udhampur where police provided me shelter,” he said. 

Abdul Rashid Dar, another victim, told media that he was assaulted by the Hindu extremists at Udhampur on July5. He said before dragging him out of the bus (No. JK01Y/234), the mob also smashed the front window screen of the vehicle.

"They asked me to speak in Hindi; when I failed they dragged me out of the vehicle and started mercilessly beating me. They left when they presumed me to be dead,” Dar said.

He said 30 minutes later CRPF troops arrived at the spot and they drove the damaged bus up to Tikri from where a police driver took it to Jammu.

“What is our sin? Why are these people attacking us when we are ferrying Hindu devotees to the cave?” the two drivers said, adding that the extremists also beat a Kashmir family before setting their car on fire. 

AMARNATH LAND ROW CLAIMS TWO MORE LIVES

Police action on protestors claimed two more lives in valley during the month of July and several Kashmiri drivers and passengers were targeted by Hindu extremist groups in Jammu in response to the revocation of land transfer order to Amarnath Shrine Board. 

The Informative Missive complied the sequence of July incidents.    

Few moments before Action Committee Against Land Transfer called off the strike on July 1st in Srinagar after revocation of land order to Amarnath Shrine Board, Abdul Gani Sheikh of Budgam district lost his life when a tear gas shell lobbed by the police on protestors hit him on neck.

 According to eyewitnesses, Abdul Gani was the part of the peaceful protests when police in order to quell the protestors fired tear gas shells on them. A live tear gas shell hit Abdul Gani’s neck with which he lost life on the spot. 

According to police officials they had to fire the tear gas shells as the crowd wanted to march forward despite being told to stop and disperse.  “They were getting violent and it was unfortunate that a man died after being hit by a teargas shell,” an official said. 

He was the fifth person to get killed in police action on protests over the revocation of land transferring of land to shrine Board. 

On 5th July, Feroz Ahmad Khan (25) succumbed to injuries in hospital after he was hit by a tear gas canister at Maisuma Srinagar on June 24th, the very first day of mass uprising against land transfer.     

Feroz, a resident of Charamgari Mohalla, Nawab Bazar locality, was injured seriously when a tear-smoke canister struck his head at Maisuma when he was closing his shop on June 24, the very first day when mass uprising against the land transfer issue engulfed Kashmir. “He was profusely bleeding and we quickly shifted him to the SMHS hospital where from he was shifted to SKIMS, Soura,” his cousin Bilal Ahmed Shah said. “We are in a shock and can’t believe that he is no more. He was supposed to get married on October 11 but fate had something else in store for him,” said, Shah and broke down. 

His brain and right eye had suffered severe damage and he was operated and put in the ICU. He remained in ICU for 12 days. Family members of the deceased that include his father Mehraj-ud-Din Khan, handicapped mother Maimoona and two brothers were in a deep shock and didn’t utter a word. 

His relatives said that Feroz started working at the age of 15, as he was concerned over the severe financial problems being faced by his family. “Feroz had quit his studies and joined his father’s business.” 

The slain was the second son of his parents and his two brothers are auto drivers. He and his father were the main breadwinners in the family. “He was loyal to his work to the extent that he refused to have a cell phone, to concentrate fully on his job,” said his relatives. 

The rioters in the Jammu region imposed economic blockade of valley by blocking Srinagar-Jammu National Highway, which is sole conduit for supplies to valley. They threatened and attacked Kashmiri drivers and Passengers at several places on national highway.  

During the month of July several such incidents took place in which Hindu rioters targeted various Kashmiri and Sumo drivers ferrying passengers and essential commodities to valley.  

On July 1st, the drivers of State Road Transport Corporation (SRTC) who were ferrying Amarnath pilgrims came under attack from the Hindu extremists in different areas of Jammu province. 

Recalling the assault by the Hindu extremists at Udhampur and other areas of Jammu region, Sadiq said he left for Jammu on July 1 with a bus full of yatris (pilgrims) who had returned from the cave shrine after ‘darshan’ (Pilgrimage)

On reaching Udhampur around 11 pm, Sadiq said, a mob comprising hundreds of extremists carrying knifes, iron rods and sticks intercepted his vehicle (No. JK01Y/338) and ordered him to stop. “They asked me to prove my identification; as soon as they learnt that I’m a Kashmiri they dragged me out of the vehicle and hit me with iron rods and sticks till I went unconscious," Sadiq said, adding, “Before leaving they said they will kill every Kashmiri no matter if he is Sikh, Pandit or Muslim."

Another Kashmiri driver, Abdul Rashid Dar said that the Hindu extremists at Udhampur on July5 assaulted him. He said before dragging him out of the bus (No. JK01Y/234), the mob also smashed the front window screen of the vehicle.

In separate incidents of violence on 30th July some 12 persons including 3 sumo drivers were injured and several goods laden trucks and tankers were damaged by the Hindu rioters on national highway.  

According to reports, during the intervening night of July 30-31 some youth set afire a Kashmir bound tanker No. 3257 JK01B on way from Pathankot to Srinagar outside SBI building in Samba town.

Another truck bearing no. 5435 JK92AD on way from Pathankot to Jammu was torched by a mob at Barian, Dwarka Puri near Samba town. 

Outside famous Chichi Mata temple near Samba, a mob over-turned a truck No. 2775 JK02AD carrying Kashmiri apples and damaged it extensively. They threw all apple boxes on the road. Some youths tried to set the truck on fire but elderly people in the mob prevented them from doing so. In Udhampur, people took out a rally and damaged vehicles plying on Jammu-Srinagar highway at Dhar Road, Rhembal and Udhampur town.

In another incident twelve persons including three Sumo drivers were injured when activists of Amarnath Yatra Sangarsh Samiti (AYSS)—an amalgam of Vishwa Hindu Parishad, Bajrang Dal, BJP and Shiv Sena —attacked drivers and the Kashmir-bound passengers. They also shattered around half a dozen vehicles carrying tourists to Kashmir.

QAMARWARI RESIDENTS ACCUSE CRPF OF HIGHHANDEDNESS

July 1: The residents of Srinagar down town Qamarwari and adjoining areas have accused the para-military CRPF personnel of ‘unleashing a reign of terror’ in the area. Qamarwari and Bemina areas like other parts of valley have been witnessing massive protests against the transfer of 800 kanals of forestland to Shri Amarnath Shrine Board (SASB). 

The residents of Qamarwari and its adjoining areas alleged that the CRPF personnel deployed in Shah Cinema have been targeting the locals after each and every protest demonstration in the area.

An elderly person, Abdul Gaffar said, “On July 1, the CRPF personnel beat several youth in the area while they were on way to mosque to offer the Fajar (pre-dawn) prayers. Some of them were beaten mercilessly”.

“They (CRPF men) had earlier threatened us that in case we continue to stage protests, they will teach us a lesson,” added Gaffar.

The residents alleged that the CRPF men are using undue force to prevent people from participating in the protest demonstrations against the transfer of 800 kanals of forestland to SASB. 

The locals further alleged that the CRPF personnel beat some non-local labroures in the area while they were moving in the evening. “When some elderly persons intervened and tried to save the non-local labourers, they too were thrashed by the para-military personnel,” said a youth, Aijaz Ahmad. 

The residents said that the troopers are barging into houses, ransacking the household goods and beating up the inmates. “The para-military personnel want to terrorise us,” they said, adding, “Instead police personnel have behaved properly”. 

The troopers have also victimized the residents of Police Housing colony, Bemina. “Two of the policeman, putting up in the housing colony, were beaten by the troopers,” said the locals, adding, “Even some children were also beaten to pulp by the CRPF men”.

The residents demanded shifting of CRPF camp from the area. They said that they would launch agitation for its relocation. “The camp has always been creating problems for the masses and it is high time for the authorities to shift it to ensure peace and calm in the area,” they added.

There have been continuous allegations from almost all parts of Srinagar that CRPF personnel have been committing excesses during and after the protest demonstrations. 

Meanwhile, the Action Committee Against Land Transfer (ACALT) has accused CRPF of unleashing terror in Srinagar and other parts of Valley.

POLICE COOK STORIES TO SAVE PROTESTORS’ KILLERS

July 4: Days after the death of five people in the land transfer agitation, police has filed FIRs but the theory of ‘fire from the crowd’ has been again used to shield the guilty police and CRPF personnel. Four people died in police firing on protestors while a tear gas shell killed one person. But police FIRs are shoddy. 

Take the case of 19-year-old Imtiyaz Ahmed Mundoo of Bemina, who succumbed to bullet injuries on June 29. The FIR that police has filed says Mundoo was part of a mob that attacked the army camp at Tatoo ground and a petrol pump with sticks and stones at 12:30 PM on June 28. The police FIR says, “Police first fired tear gas shells to disperse the mob but when the measure failed, it fired a few bullets to disperse the crowd. A bullet hit Imtiyaz at around 2-2:30 pm but it is not known if he was killed by police bullet or by a bullet from the crowd.” 

But the hospital records at SMHS say that Imtiyaz was brought to hospital at 12:30 PM, at the same time, according to the police, when he was ‘attacking’ the army camp. Hospital records also say that Imtiyaz had lost almost 3 pints of blood by the time he was brought to the hospital. 

Imtiyaz’s family says, “Everyone in Chan-Mohalla (the place where Imtiyaz was injured) says that Imtiyaz was beaten up by police before he was shot. Police has failed to mention that and has left a lot of other stuff too.” 

SSP Srinagar, Ahfadul Mujtaba, however told media,” We have taken cognizance of all the cases.” He however refused to comment any further, “It is not appropriate to comment at this juncture.” He also ruled out any special commission to investigate the issue. “The SHOs of the concerned stations will take care of the investigations.” 

SSP Budgam, Ashiq Bukhari, also said FIRs have been lodged and investigation was going on in the Magam incident. 

Police have named CRPF responsible in at least two cases- the killings of Feroz Rah at Nowhatta and Sameer Ahmed Batloo at Fateh Kadal. But one investigating officer admitted that investigations are going slow. “It has been only a day or two since normalcy has returned, we are still picking up the pieces.” 

However, the High Court Bar Association has said it will be demanding a magisterial inquiry in all the cases. Bar President, Nazir Ahmed Ronga, said, “The Bar held a meeting on July 4 to discuss its course of action on the issue and we have decided to consult the families of those killed before any further action. Why does police only fire on Kashmiri protestors? In Jammu, a police man was beaten to pulp by protestors but even then the police there did not resort to firing.” 

POLICE USING FOOTAGE TO ARREST PROTESTORS

SSP CONFIRMS ARRESTS

July 13: After public uprising over the battle for land, police has started hunt to arrest protesters in Srinagar after identifying them on the video footages and information provided by different agencies.

“Police itself had deputed people to shoot the incidents with the cameras at several places,” police sources said. “Wherever police could not reach out, the footage of protesters was provided by local camerapersons. With the help of footages, the police have become successful in identifying few people. This has led to their arrests.”

Sources said police have prepared a long list of people with the help of footages and local informers, who they suspect were part of the public uprising.” Besides other parts of Srinagar city, most of the lists have been prepared by police station at Nowhatta, Rainawari, Hawal, Almagari Bazaar and other areas of old city including Dal Lake interiors,” source said adding, “Few FIRs registered in the police station were also based on the identification obtained from the footage.”

Confirming that police has started arresting protesters, Wahid Ahmed, a resident of Jogi Lankar said police detained him on July 11,in connection with the protests.

“I was inside a shop when scores of baton wielding policemen from Rainawari police station appeared before me. They arrested me and hurled choicest of invectives before beating me to pulp,” he said. “Later the SHO accused me of stone pelting.” He said police “photographed me for further investigation”.” I was released with the intervention by some elderly people. However, they took Rs 500 as bribe from me,” Ahmed said.

Another person, who was arrested from Rainawari on July 11, said he witnessed policemen filming the protesters during the public uprising. “It has become a routine that every evening police bundle two to three people from old city in connection with the protests. After taking a bribe of Rs 500, they release them,” he said.

“It seems strange that after more than two weeks of protests, police is arresting people.” He said he was arrested after local moles informed police.” I saw a long list of people along with SHO,” he said.

Meanwhile, Senior Superintendent of Police Afad-ul-Mujtaba confirmed they are arresting protesters who caused ‘damage to public property’ and ‘inflicting injuries to people’.

“We have registered 59 cases in the city in connection with the protests. There can be more people involved in this,” Mujtaba said. “Police would certainly take action against them.” He said some ‘accused’ have been already identified.

“We have also got footage and photographs of people for identifying purpose of the violent protestors,” Mujtaba said.

The violent protests rocked Kashmir after the government decided to give 800 kanals of State land to the controversial Amarnath shrine board. Finally after intense pressure from people, the order was revoked. However, the controversy claimed the life of six people while more than 700 were injured.

VDC MEN BEAT UP BHADERWAH MUSLIM

RAJOURI CONTRACTOR ASSAULTED BY BD

July 16: A group of armed Hindu Village Defence Committee (VDC) beat up Mushtaq Ahmad of Bhaderwah with kicks, blows, sticks, and gun-butts. And one of them knocked him unconscious with a blow on the head. He was taken to Government Medical College Hospital Jammu, but instead of treatment he was rebuked by the doctors and medicos. 

Mushtaq admitted in the Emergency and Observation ward of the SKIMS, Soura, told media,” I was travelling along with my brother-in-law in a Mahindra mini-truck when a group of Hindus belonging to VDC and armed with weapons, sticks, and knives stopped our vehicle near Sartangal Garh, Bhaderwah. It was around 11 am. The men dragged us out of the truck and started beating us savagely. They said we deserved punishment, as we had 'violated curfew imposed after a Hindu-Muslim riot in Jammu city'." 

Mushtaq said, "We told them the situation was normal and curfew was not in force, but one of them hit me hard on the head with a cane and blood gushed out from my nose. Then I fell unconscious.”    

Mushtaq's brother-in-law Parvez Akhtar managed to escape from the spot and went to police station Bhaderwah. Police filed an FIR (93/08), and a police party went to the spot and shifted Mushtaq to the Bhaderwah hospital. Doctors advised his family that he should be immediately shifted to GMC Jammu, as one of his skull bones has been fractured and might need an operation.

But the medical staff of GMC Jammu “behaved more like Shiv Sainiks” than non-partisan professionals, according to the family.

Mukhtar Ahmad, Mushtaq`s nephew, said, "Initially the doctors asked us to arrange blood for Mushtaq, as he would need a surgery. But when we arranged the blood they started dilly-dallying. On Friday, July 11 a doctor who wore his communal colours on his face abused us without any reason." 

Mukhtar said the harassment intensified and on July 12 another man in apron "rebuked us for being Muslims."

"The man said 'you Muslims are miscreants; we will give you special treatment in the evening, a dose of special injection'. We were frightened and it seemed clear the doctors were hand-in-glove with the VDC members against whom we had filed the FIR. They were planning to eliminate Mushtaq and therefore we removed him secretly from the hospital and boarded a Sumo near Talab Khatikan to Srinagar," Mukhtar said.

Mushtaq was admitted in the SKIMS on the night of July 14, and according to the doctors he is out of danger now.

"He is in a better condition now and may be discharged in a day or two. However there is a blood clot in his head and that may create problems in future," a doctor at the SKIMS said, wishing anonymity. 

Mushtaq`s family said police have not arrested the VDC men who attacked Mushtaq. "But we are more pained by the behavior of doctors at GMC. They forgot they were practicing a noble profession," said Mukhtar.

MEDIA AT RECEIVING END FOR COVERING MASS AGITATION

DIV COM, IGP PROMISE ACTION

July 5: The local journalists were allegedly thrashed by the police and Central Reserve Police Forces (CRPF) while covering the valley-wide protests against land transfer order.  The journalists condemn the police and CRPF action and alleged they were prevented from discharging profession duty. The police and state administration assured the journalist fraternity of taking up the matter with CRPF high ups. 

On July 5, journalists strongly condemned the use of force on them time and again by police and troops of CRPF to prevent them from discharging their professional duties. About 100 media men including photojournalists and videographers lashed out at police and troops. “Beating of photojournalists and videographers by police has become a routine for the past two months,” said a journalist, adding that such actions were “highly condemnable.” 

A case in point is when the CRPF troopers deployed near Nigin Club harassed two Media staffers, on their way home after the days work, on July 4. At about 11 p.m. the staffers were stopped by the troops and asked to board down their vehicle. They frisked the vehicle bearing registration No MH 04 AH 8817 and showered all sorts of questions like what they were doing and where there were going “so late.” Even after the staffers disclosed their identity, the troopers responded with “What if you are from the Press?” 

When the staffers told them to contact their own PRO, the troopers made light of their own superior, saying, “Who is he, he must be sleeping with…” Detaining the staffers for half an hour more, unnecessarily, the troopers finally allowed them to proceed. Concerned over the growing incidents of harassment, a meeting was called on July 5 after police beat six journalists and CRPF troops at Soura while covering the protests, which erupted after fire, broke out at the Jenab Sahib Shrine. The meeting urged the authorities to call an immediate halt to such incidents and restrain their personnel. 

After the meeting, the divisional commissioner, Mehboob Iqbal, and the inspector-general of police, S M Sahai, visited the Press Enclave on July 5 to ascertain the facts. “We’ll take up the matter with the CRPF and police officials and see where the problem lies,” Sahai assured the journalists. 

Mehboob Iqbal said: “We’ll hold a meeting of the CRPF and police officials and also invite journalists to sort out the matter once for all.”

In another incident on July 10, a journalist was seriously injured after being allegedly beaten up by the CRPF troops on Kishtwar-Paddar road near Padhyarna Camp, Kishtwar on July 10.

The journalist became victim of CRPF atrocities and torture when he tried to capture the illegal torture being meted out with a private driver on Kishtwar-Paddar road near Padhyarna Camp. The correspondent of Dainik Jagran and stringer of IBN7 was reportedly coming back from Paddar after covering a religious function of Chitoo Yatra. On reaching CRPF Post Padhyarna he saw the CRPF personals beating a private driver for not brining the vegetables for them. 

He tried to capture this episode in his camera and his vehicle was made to stop there for one and half hour. The CRPF personals roughed up the journalist and also damaged his video camera. The matter was reported to SDPO Kishtwar telephonically and due to his intervention the journalist was allowed to move towards Kishtwar. But on reaching near Kuleed SPO Camp, near about 1 Kilometer from Kishtwar, he was intercepted by CRPF personals including two officers and beaten up severely. They also broke his video camera in two pieces.

 The SPOs posted in the camp came to the rescue of said journalist on which the CRFP personals fled from the spot leaving the journalist to the mercy of God in an unconscious state. He was brought to District Hospital Kishtwar where he was struggling for life. 

The news spread in the area like wild fire and all the journalists, the officials of local administration and police reached the hospital, where the Journalist Association Kishtwar lodged strong resentment and demanded registration of FIR against the accused persons and their arrest. Police has registered FIR number 147 of 2008 under section 341, 307 and 382 RPC in Police Station Kishtwar.

Additional Deputy Commissioner Kishtwar Riaz Ahmad Zargar, SP Kishtwar and SDPO Kishtwar called on 2nd-in-command CRPF, in hospital and asked him to take action against the accused personals.

Jamwal has been admitted in the District hospital Kishtwar in critical condition. Working journalist of Doda, Ramban and Kishtwar condemned the act of CRPF and demanded immediate arrest of the accused involved and also appealed to Governor of Jammu and Kashmir NN Vohra to look personally in to the whole matter as the working journalists of Doda district are working and contributing best to the nation under the shade of guns.

In another incident on July 16 police tried to prevent media persons, including photojournalists, from discharging their professional duties during the encounter at Warpora, Sopore. They were covering the protest demonstrations after a fierce encounter between militants and security personnel. 

On seeing the media persons, including the photo and video journalists of several local and Indian television channels, policemen warned the media persons against taking the shots in which they were seen beating the protesters, including women. 

The SHO, Sopore, asked the media persons to show the identity cards issued by the Information Department. However, even after they displayed their I-cards issued by the department, police asked them to leave the spot. Many of them were roughed up. The SHO allegedly even hurled abuses on them. 

Later, talking to media, the president of the Photographers Association, Farooq Javed, said police had prevented them from discharging their professional duties when they were covering the encounter and the subsequent protests.  
GANDERBAL ‘ENCOUNTER’: YET ANOTHER TALE 

July 22: The killing of two youth in Ganderbal on July 20 by police and security forces in Ganderbal is raising more questions with the passage of time regarding the circumstances in which they were shot dead. There is lot of contradiction in the statements of zonal police headquarters, Ganderbal SSP Razak Khan and army. 

On the night when the incident occurred, SSP and some other senior police officers stated that militants attacked Amarnath pilgrims, moving from Srinagar to Baltal. Police stated that two security men and two civilians were injured in the attack and that an operation was launched to neutralize the militants, responsible for the attack. 

On July 21, SSP Ganderbal claimed that two foreign militants of LeT, responsible for the attack were killed. Even defence spokesman issued a similar statement. But a statement from the zonal police headquarters contradicted their statements. It said that the two militants were killed prior to launching of the attack on the yatra. 

Razak Khan claimed that the two slain militants were carrying fake identity cards in which their names were written as Abid Khan and Sageer Khan of Rampura-Sopore. But the verification in Sopore proved that they were not the residents of Sopore. He claimed that they were actually Syed Abid Ahmad of Narwal-Punjab in Pakistan and Sagheer Shah of Abbatabad-Subha Sarhad in Pakistan. 

On July 22,when media, asked the SSP as to how the police identified them as Pakistani militants when they were not arrested and interrogated, he claimed that they managed to establish their identity through wireless intercepts of militants. But the reports from Ganderbal make the whole affair look fishy. The people of Rangel, Daren and other villages alleged that the two youth were killed in a fake encounter after their arrest. Even some people alleged that these boys were seen being taken to Beehama forests by the cops of Special Operation Group two days prior to their killing. 

A report said, SOG from Shalteng area arrested two unidentified youth some days back. They were arrested with grenades from a vehicle. Some people say that perhaps they were some teenaged Pakistani militants, who were later killed in a fake encounter in Ganderbal area on July 20. 

If the reports are to be believed then no attack had actually taken place on Yatra as was claimed by the police. There is a feeling that the attack on pilgrims was stage-managed to justify the killing of two youth. If that is really the case, then police and other security officials had not bothered to foresee the possible fall out of such an act which could have triggered off communal clashes in the state particularly in Jammu. 

But police and security forces insist that it was not a fake killing but an encounter in which the two militants were killed. But they are unable to justify the contradiction in the statements of zonal police headquarters and that of SSP Ganderbal and army. Some people who visited the spot claimed that the circumstantial evidence indicates that the encounter had not taken place there as claimed by police and security forces, as there was no blood on the spot. 

There were some disposable items indicating that security men and cops had taken tea there and fired in air only while the fake encounter had taken place somewhere else. Senior PDP leader Qazi Mohammad Afzal, who represented Ganderbal in last assembly, told media that people approached him saying it was a fake encounter. He said that Ganderbal is proving to be a safe heaven for fake encounters.

‘I PICKED UP ASHRAF FROM DALGATE… MAJOR KILLED HIM’
July 8: Two accused in the alleged fake encounter killing of a labourer Muhammad Ashraf Sheikh of Larnoo Kokernag on July 8 said he was killed by a Major of Army’s 3 JAKLI. Army on June 3, 2008 handed over Ashraf’s body to police station Bandipora. The police registered an F.I.R No. 108/08 under Section 302- RPC

“Ashraf was killed by a Major of 3 JAKLI,” Tahir Pathan of 3 JAKLI and Reyaz Ahmad Cheechi, a government gunman, told the Sessions Judge during the hearing of the case. 

Pathan told the judge that he didn’t kill Ashraf, but was present on the spot when he was killed. Cheechi also pleaded that he was not involved in Ashraf’s killing. “I picked up Ashraf from Dalgate but didn’t kill him. He was killed by the Major,” he told the judge. 

The family sought permission of the district administration for exhumation of the body buried in a graveyard at Aarigam in Bandipora. The DNA test of Nazeer Ahmed Sheikh, brother of the deceased, was matched and it was confirmed that body was of Muhammad Ashraf Sheikh. Pathan and Cheechi were immediately arrested by police following their alleged involvement in the case. 

On July 8, both Cheechi of Chatty Banday and Pathan of Aloosa pleaded innocent before the court, but said, Ashraf was killed by a Major. The court has sent both to a judicial remand till July 16.  

TEENAGER BOOKED IN “MURDER CASE”

GRENADE THROWERS ARE ARMY INFORMERS: POLICE

July 14:  A teenager Musaib Ahmad Bhat, 16, of Model Town Sopore was lifted by Special Task Force (STF) Handwara from his residence accusing him of throwing a grenade in Handwara, which killed a police constable. However, the family refused the STF’s allegations. 

While talking to The Informative Missive, Abdul Hameed Bhat, Musaib’s father said that on 14 July 2008, at night STF barged into his house at Sopore and picked up Musaib after a person outside in the gypsy vehicle identified him. “The STF barged into our house at about 10:45 pm and asked for my brother first. After that they asked about my son Musaib, whom they took outside with our permission. After showing him to the person inside their gypsy they brought him inside again and told us that they had to take him along with them, as he is involved in murder case”, Hameed said.

Next day the family lodged FIR at police station Sopore, but could not know his whereabouts for three days. “After three days one of our close relatives confirmed it from his friend in police that he has been picked up by STF and is detained in Handwara STF camp. Next day we went there and found him detained there and they had filed a case of murder against him. They alleged that he has hurled grenades at Baramulla Town and Kralgund Handwara in which one police constable was killed,” said Abdul Hameed.  

He said that during these days they had filed the case against him and had taken him to Handwara court as well where he was forcibly made to admit the guilt. The court had ordered them that being a teenager he should not be tortured and should not be kept in barrack. But he said that he was brutally tortured and his confession was taken under duress.

“When we first met him, he was brutally tortured. He was not able to stand on his legs as heavy roller was applied over them. There were STF personals also around he told us that he is involved in the case. But when he we met him second time, he denied his involvement in the case and told us that on previous meeting STF personnel were around they would have beaten him had he told us about his non-involvement. He told us that he has been brutally tortured and forced to confess the guilt,” Hameed added. 

He also said that other four persons namely, Shahnawaz Ahmad, Farooq Ahmad and Mudasir have also been picked up in this case and are detained in the same camp along with Musaib. Mudasir is around twenty years old and is person who identified Musaib at his home. The other two are in their thirties. But he said that according to Musaib, he has not seen anybody among them ever before.

Abdul Hameed said that he confirmed it from DSP Task Force that the other three guys have strong affiliation with military, as they have confessed in the custody that they have helped the army in killing several militants.

Abdul Hameed said that Musaib also told him that Shanawaz and Farooq have told him that they are going to pay Rs. 70000/. To STF and they would set them free soon.

He said that he is sure that his child cannot do such an activity. He has been booked on false charge. “I don’t know what to do now. He is innocent, as I know my child. He is teenager and he has been brutally tortured. I don’t know where from I can seek justice,” he sobbed. 

JKCCS DEMANDS ENQUIRY INTO GRENADE ATTACKS ON PUBLIC PLACES 

July 25: The Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) feels aggrieved on the recent grenade blasts in the public places by hitherto unknown actors, begging for a thorough and professional investigation for truth regarding actual perpetrators. It is incumbent upon the state agencies to clear the air about the prevailing thick public suspicion regarding the perpetrators. Similarly, it is incumbent upon the non-state combatant groups operating in Jammu and Kashmir to come out clearly on attacks ascribed to them by the state police. 

On 20th July at Gulmarg a grenade was thrown near the post office in which 2 civilians died, including a tourist. On 24th July a grenade was thrown at the crowded Batamaloo bus stand in which five persons of a single family, including four minors, were killed and 22 injured. Besides many other grenade blasts have taken place across Jammu and Kashmir recently, which has resulted into huge civilian casualties. 

JKCCS considers these blasts a despicable act of violence and condemns it unequivocally. Targeting of civilians in any armed conflict is not only a violation of Geneva Convention but also amounts to a war crime. Typical of conflict situations like that of Jammu and Kashmir, we do not know who is perpetrating these crimes. 

The United Jehad Council (UJC) in 2007 has committed: “It is our conviction that fundamental rules protecting the dignity of all human beings must be upheld at all times. We therefore declare that we shall henceforth conduct our struggle for self determination guided by the rules of the four Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of the victims of armed conflicts…” As UJC itself has committed to abiding by Geneva Convention and has denounced use of grenades especially in crowded places in which civilians suffer. 

It is pertinent to mention here that United Jehad Council in its Code of Conduct says, “Each constituent group will ensure that its Mujahid/Mujahideen shall not target any non-combatant; non-Muslim men, women, and children”. The Code of Conduct also commits, “Each constituent shall abstain from targeting any public places like, schools, religious places, hospitals, markets and population settlements in any case”. 

In the context of above mentioned pledges of UJC, we demand the truth about these blasts be made public and perpetrators responsible for these gruesome acts identified. The UJC cannot afford to ignore their commitment towards the people of Jammu and Kashmir and refrain from silence about such incidents in view of their stated commitments.

We urge all the stakeholders in Jammu and Kashmir to ensure the safety of all civilians. 

We also call upon the Indian state to minimize stakes in violence so that alternative means to resolve the conflict are encouraged.
YOUTH FREED AFTER 2 YEARS IN GOA, RE-ARRESTED IN DELHI

July 11: A Kashmiri youth, acquitted by a Goa court of charges of possessing explosives, was re-arrested at Delhi Airport on July 10 when he was on way to Srinagar, according to his family. Goa Police arrested Tariq Ahmad Batloo son of Jala-ud-Din of Badyar Basant Bagh, working as a salesman in Goa, on March 3, 2006 on charges of possessing explosives. 

“It was March 3, 2006 when my brother was arrested by the Goa police, but we came to know about it on March 11 when Tariq was shown on TV channels. Tariq had been arrested when he was coming out from a Masjid after offering Friday prayers,” Tariq’s brother, Parvez Ahmad, told media Parvez and his cousin rushed to Goa after the arrest of Tariq in 2006.

 “When we met Tariq, he requested to arrange a lawyer from Kashmir for him. Police had implicated him in a false case. We stayed in Goa for a week and met Tariq twice.” 

Tariq’s family arranged a lawyer who went to Goa to plead his case. “No lawyer in Goa was willing to fight Tariq’s case,” Parvez revealed. Finally, the Goa court acquitted Tariq on July 10 after more than two years of imprisonment. Back home his family was jubilant and his brother Parvez and cousin Asif Iqbal went to Goa to receive Tariq. 

“On July 10, after completing all the formalities, Tariq was released from jail. As three of us were coming out of the jail premises, a police Gypsy was following us. We took Tariq to a barber for shave. As we were leaving the shop, policemen bundled all of us in the Gypsy and took us to Vasco police station,” Parvez said. 

At the police station, according to Parvez, they were asked to leave Goa immediately and take first available flight. “We hadn’t enough money at disposal, but still decided to go by air at least till Delhi. We were harassed at Goa Airport by the police and agencies. As we were leaving Delhi Airport, a white Ambassador car DL-5020 and a Gypsy followed us.” 

“Suddenly the vehicles stopped and eight to 10 policemen in civvies pounced on Tariq and whisked away him to an unknown destination. We were threatened by the policemen to immediately leave Delhi. We came back by road and just reached home,” he said. 

As the news about Tariq’s re-arrest broke out, mourning started at his home. His family members and neighbors have decided to launch protests against the re-arrest of Tariq. 

“If court acquitted him, why was he re-arrested and that too in Delhi. Kashmiris are being implicated in false cases everywhere in India,” Parvez lamented. 

UP POLICE DETAINS KASHMIRI FILMMAKER FOR 48-HOURS

July 24: In yet another case of harassment of Kashmiris’ outside Jammu and Kashmir, Delhi-based noted filmmaker of Kashmir and a freelance journalist, Syed Fayaz Muhammad Rizvi faced 48-hours of illegal detention allegedly under Uttar Pradesh (UP) Police for unknown reasons.

On July 23 evening, Rizvi who hails from Pattan area of north Kashmir’s Baramulla district returned to his New Delhi’s Safdar Gung Enclave residence and was escorted by UP police. He said that he was released due to the intervention of Jammu and Kashmir Police and Delhi Police.

“In the past two days I and my family went through a lot of trouble. I am in no state to talk right now. I am rushing to Srinagar to meet my family. My wife was alone in Delhi during this time as I was illegally detained. I would call a press conference once I’m back from Kashmir,” Rizvi told media.

“I thank Jammu and Kashmir Police and Delhi Police for their efforts in getting me released safely. I was questioned on various issues, which I would not like to discuss right now,” Rizvi said.

According to a complaint filed in Amnesty International by Geetika Kaushal, Rizvi’s wife said he went missing on July 21 from Connaught Place (CP), Delhi at around 7:30 pm where he was scheduled to meet one Rehana on the pretext of a story.

The complaint reads that Geetika was trying the cell phone of Rizvi till 9 pm, which was ‘switched off’, and later at 12:30 am Rizvi called her from an anonymous number and stated that he was caught in the web of some serious allegations and was detained for investigations.

“When I asked about his location, he told me that he is not entitled to disclose it as he is under police interrogation. Then a senior police officer came on phone and told me that my husband will return home the next day,” the complaint reveals. Next day, Geetika contacted Amnesty International to seek help for ensuring the safety of her husband. In response, Amnesty International wrote a letter to the Police Commissioner of Delhi urges them to look deeply into this matter.

Meanwhile, Inspector General of Police (IGP) Operation north Kashmir, B Srinivasan denied having any information regarding Rizvi’s case.” I have no information about this case,” said Srinivasan.

Rizvi is a noted filmmaker from Kashmir who has won numerous awards including a national award for his documentary film. He has made many documentaries related to environment and wildlife. In 2007,some of his documentaries were filmed in SKICC during a three-day film festival.

KASHMIRI YOUTH IN TAMIL NADU GETS LIFER FOR 'WAGING WAR ON INDIA’

July 16: A Tamil Nadu court has sentenced a Kashmiri youth to life imprisonment for waging war against India, and imposed a fine of Rs. 12,000/- on him.

According to reports reaching Srinagar, Azad Ahmad Qureshi, a 29-year-old resident of Nauhatta, Srinagar, had been arrested by the local police in the Madnapalli area of Chitwar district of Tamil Nadu on July 3,2007.

According to public prosecutor Shiv Ram Reddy, Qureshi was arrested while visiting a female acquaintance in Tamil Nadu, and sent to the Kudappa Central jail on judicial remand.

According to the prosecutor, Qureshi had been working as a leather dealer in New Delhi from 1993 to 1999 during which he started functioning with the militant group, Islamic Front, active in Kashmir.

In 2001, Azad had been arrested in Delhi on charges of planting a bomb, and a pistol and some hand grenades were said to have been recovered from him. Reddy said that Qureshi was held under detention from 2001 to 2006, after which he crossed over to Pak-administrated-Kashmir and managed to establish contact with the Lashkar-e-Toiba.Reddy claimed that Qureshi received arms training for about 8 months, and returned to Delhi in 2007 trying to get in touch with a female acquaintance.

On learning that she had left for Chitwar, Qureshi headed for Madnapalli where he was arrested, the lawyer said. Phone numbers of militants in Pak-administered-Kashmir were found with him at the time of his arrest, he said.

The prosecutor claimed that the Lashkar-e-Toiba had deputed Qureshi on gathering information about economically significant cities like Bangalore. Qureshi's case was being heard by the court of the Additional District Judge, Madnapalli, which issued the final verdict on July 14 after 357 days of his incarceration.

Qureshi was handed down a life sentence and a fine of Rs 12,000.He will have to serve an additional three months in prison in case he fails to pay the fine.
SERIAL BLASTS: KASHMIRI YOUTH BEAR THE BRUNT

July 28: Immediately after the serial blasts in Karnataka and Gujarat, the security agencies have started harassing the Kashmiri businessmen, employees and students. Parents of various students and businessmen have complained that after the bomb blasts in the two Indian states, security agencies have started harassing their children, who are studying in Bangalore and some of them were also beaten up by police. The parents have also sought the intervention of governor, N.N. Vohra for the safety and security of their children. 

"Our children are being unnecessarily harassed by police and security agencies in Bangalore," said Mohammad Shafi Mir, whose son is working in an IT company at Bangalore. He said that police has also asked his son and his other colleagues to report daily at a local police station, where very objectionable questions are being posed to them. 

The parents said that their children are facing mental trauma after harassment from police. "If the present harassment with Kashmiris continues for a few more days our children would be forced to leave the colleges. Our children cannot move freely even in the college campus and they are residing there in a hostile environment," said another parent, whose son is pursuing engineering at Bangalore. He complained that the mood of security agencies has completely changed after the bomb blasts. 

"We have serious apprehensions that security agencies would try to implicate our children in false cases. Considering the previous experience a number of Kashmiris were dubbed as militants even though they had no involvement in any sort of militancy related incidents," the parents said. 

The reports of harassment to businessmen have also reached here and majority of them are those who are selling handicrafts items in various parts of the country. Muzaffar Ahmad, who is owner of a handicrafts shop at Mumbai, said on telephone that after the blasts at Bangalore and Gujarat, red alert has been sounded in Mumbai and the police is repeatedly questioning Kashmiris. 

"It is beyond our understanding as to why only Kashmiris are being selectively questioned by police and security agencies. We came here to do our business. But under such hostile environment, how can we conduct our business properly. We have some employees who are selling shawls in various localities of Mumbai. They are being harassed and questioned by the policemen in plain clothes. If the present circumstances continue, we may be forced to leave the state for safety reasons," he said. 

The businessmen said that few years back J&K government in New Delhi created a special cell for Kashmiris and different numbers were given for any assistance. They complained that the cell is almost defunct and the reasons are best known to the government. "We are requesting the state government to intervene in the matter and discuss the matter with central government as to why Kashmiris are been unnecessarily harassed by the police and security agencies," Muzaffar said.

AT TIHAR, KASHMIRI YOUTH DEVELOPS MENTAL DISORDER
July 21: A Kashmiri youth arrested for his alleged involvement in Delhi bomb blast 12 years ago has developed mental disorders allegedly due to the torture and physical abuse by jail staff in New-Delhi’s Tihar, his family members said on July 21.

 Javed Ahmad Khan, hailing from Nowpora, Sinagar, used to sell Kashmiri handicrafts in Nepal. He was among a dozen Kashmiris arrested in connection with the 21 May 1996 Lajpat Nagar blast. Javaid was 28 then.

 “He has been languishing in jail for more than 12 years now. Because of ill-treatment and physically abuse there, he has developed serious mental disorders,” his family members told media.

 “My only son is innocent and in no way involved with blasts, he has been framed by the Special Cell of Delhi Police because he happens to be a Kashmiri,” said Javed’s father, Muhammad Shafi.

 On the day of the blast, Shafi said, Javed was in Nepal where he owned a handicraft showroom. On 2 June 1996, he was arrested. Instead of providing adequate medical attention, Shafi said, the jail authorities gave him sedatives and injections, which exacerbated his condition. 

“We begged of the jail authorities to provide him proper treatment but they told us to get permission from the court. On our complaint, the court directed the jail authorities to provide the treatment. But even then, no action was taken,” he added. 

 Shafi said that his son had been languishing in jail without trial. “The courts have held scores of hearings in the past 12 years with over six month breaks,” he lamented, adding the bail application he had moved had been rejected.

 “I appeal the human rights groups for intervention in the case. My son needs immediate medical attention which the jail authorities are denying,” Shafi said.

 “During periodical meetings with the family members, Javed is asked to speak in Hindi while we can’t hug him as he remains behind bars,” he said.

TORTURE TESTIMONIES
CASE 1:

Family name: Malla 

First name: Shamin Ahmed

Sex: male

Age: 25 years

Occupation: Student (B.A. Final)

Residential address: Wagub, Sopore.

Shamim Ahmad, who once represented higher secondary cricket team because of his resilience and good physique, is unable to walk a mile now. As armed forces tortured him for the reason he himself does not know.  He was picked up by the forces on mere suspicion and later the administration booked him under Public Safety Act (PSA) for two years. 

Shamim sets himself within a story of victimization, beginning his account saying “ I was never a militant, I never crossed the line of control, I never had any affiliation with militants, but still I had to go to jail for the crime I never did. In April 2003, one night at about 2:30 am, armed forces comprising Special Task Force (STF), Army and police cordoned our house and after ransacking it, they forcibly took me with them on the pretext of my involvement in transporting the militants to other side of border. I was confused as they were accusing me of such activity about which I did not have any knowledge. I pleaded before them but they whisked me away to the STF camp. They brutally tortured me there both physically and psychologically as they continuously confused me by asking questions regarding whereabouts of militants and beat me simultaneously. They tied my feet and hung me upside down and continuously beat me with lathis (sticks). Then they applied wooden roller over my legs, which was weighted down by several interrogators on both sides. The roller dislocated my knee bones that gave such an excruciating pain that I could not stand up for several days. They applied electric shocks with their portable electric machines after tying one of the wire to my ear lobule and another to my private part. They beat me with heavy wooden rods and gun butts. They also punched me over my face with which my nose was fractured which I had to get operated after my release and of which I still do have breathing problems. For about 20 days I underwent the same torture, which worsen my health. As there was no doctor for our treatment I had to bear the pain of my wounds without any medicine or prescription. Even my family members were not allowed to meet me during these days. After that I was shifted to Udampur jail where I spent two years, as I was booked under Public Safety Act (PSA). During initial days in jail I was also tortured but later on situation was a bit good. There I was taken to doctor several times which used to give me painkillers, which assuaged the pain to some extent. My family members were also allowed to meet me first time in jail. The torture has worst effect on my health. I used to play good cricket as I represented higher secondary cricket team before my arrest, but now I cannot cover a mile distance on foot.  I got terrible cramps over my legs due to which I had to bid good-bye to the cricket forever. I can not lift heavy things and very often get prolonged painful headaches.”      

At the time of his detention Shamim had appeared in 12th class examination and was sanguine about his results and to give further continuation to his studies. But the ‘preventive’ detention not only put two-year break in his studies but also ruined his career. He can neither travel to outside state without the permission of authorities nor can he get any government job anywhere in any situation. Despite knowing all this Shamim has hoped against hope, he continued his study after his release.      

“ I continued my studies after my release and today I am in my B.A final. I have heard that for those who are booked under the act, cannot leave the state without reporting, we cannot get jobs, and we cannot get passports. But I still study because I hope that some day things will change,” Shamim hoped. 

Since the time of his release, Shamim has to give haziri (report) at military camp every Sunday and every time he becomes prime target of forces to get arrested wherever some untoward incident take place in the vicinity. During Haziri, Shamim along with other persons are forced to do laborious work like cutting of grass, breaking of coal, cleaning of utensils and toilets. Failure in reporting does subject them to several other brutal harassments. 

Shamim once approached to Srinagar based Red Cross to register his complaint but nothing substantial has come out of it so far. 

CASE – 2:

First name: Peer Atta-ul-lah. 

Sex: male

Age: 25 years

Occupation: Political worker (AHPC) 

Residential address: Beligaon, Kupwara dist. 

Peer Atta-ul-lah, 25 year old, has been rendered feeble and fragile as torture by different security agencies he has been subjected to fizzled out all his youthful exuberance and resilience. His tale brings a strong sense of victimization and provides the grim picture of harassment of Kashmiri youth due to nexus between politicians, security forces and renegades in Kashmir.  

 While narrating his tale he said, “ I was first time picked up at Pushwa (Kupwara), by 6-Rastriya Rifles on 26 Oct. 2000 from crackdown at around 6:30 am, which they had already planned. They blind folded me, tied my hands and took me to camp. First they started asking me strange and confusing questions about my linkage with militants. They accused me of being a launching commander and having hand in transporting militants to other side of LOC. Then I was an 11th class student studying in High School Beligaon. I pleaded my innocence and refused my hand in any such activity. I told them that they could check my attendance at my school. But they did not pay heed to my pleas, they kept on telling me that my real name was Aadil and I do possess Satellite phone through which I was in direct contact with people in Pakistan. After this they started torturing me physically they disrobed me completely and started beating me. They applied current to my hands and ear lobules and repeatedly kept on saying that my name was Aadil and I own satellite phone. I told them that I am innocent and my name is Atta-ul-lah , but they said that it might be my assumed code name. Then they applied electric current to my toes and beat me severely. They tied my hands and legs and one of the Ikawani (Renegade) beat me for nearly about three hours. After that they hung me upside down for about half an hour, which made me unconscious. When I regained my consciousness I found my chin bleeding which had sustained a severe cut. They tortured me continuously from 6:30 am when I was arrested, up to 4:00 pm. Then they came again at 9:00 pm and started torturing me. This time they had bucket of chilly water, which they wanted me to drink, but when I refused they several times forcibly dunked my head into it, with which lot of water went inside through nose and eyes. This chilly water damaged my eyes badly the affect of which still I do have. They applied heavy roller on my legs, which dislocated my bones and muscles, even today the flesh on my thighs is separated into two halves and as per doctors my nerves have been damaged. Then they made me to lie turned and beat me on back with sticks and applied electric current to my backbone. Then they inserted wire into my private part and gave me electric current, I still remember that after this for about two months I passed blooded urine. They also made me to recognize some recorded phonic conversation between two persons about transporting people to Pakistan, which I said I have never listened before. For that they again beat me severely. Even one day SHO of our village, who is my neighbor also came there and told them to release me as he knows me well, but they did not listen to him either. Next day they took me to nearby forest along with other detainee, Manzoor Ahmad. They had a plan to kill us there in fake encounter as one-army personnel admitted it before we people, but somehow they later on changed the plan and took us back after beating us ruthlessly there. They tortured me continuously for eight days using same methods. They didn’t give me any medicine for wounds or even proper food to eat; our daily food was morning and after- noon tea and a roti (bread) with vegetable at night. They did not even allow my family to meet me, once my father along with my neighbors had come to the camp to see my condition, but in turn army humiliated them and threw my father’s cap on ground. Later on army major told me that they had information about my involvement in transporting militants. I told him that somebody might have misinformed him about me. I don’t have any link with any militant organisation.         

 After that they took me to the commanding officer in Beligaon. I narrated him my whole story. After listening to me he asked me some question, which were totally unrelated to the previous interrogation. He asked me about my affiliation with the then forest minister of National Conference, Chowdery Ramzan, who was my neighbour then. This question gave me a clue about my detention and helped me to get the case clearer to me. The military knew that neither I was launching commander nor I had any relation with any militant organization. Actually army only on the instruction of Chowdery Ramazan picked me up. As once he was addressing the public, I stood up to the podium and shouted slogans against him as I, like other villagers knew his involvement in raping of several girls in our village by security forces. He also before becoming a minister once informed the military about the presence of militants in our village and to fish out the militants’ army brunt several houses including my home. In the process army also raped one of my neighboring women. He is also involved in getting a teacher and old man killed in fake encounter by security forces. When he was addressing the public, making tall promises I could not resist myself I stood up and raised slogans against him. When major asked me about Choudery Ramazan I understood his hand behind my detention. After that I was handed over to police station and FIR was lodged against me inflicting false charges of recovery of grenade and satellite phone from my possession. I was kept there for three months. They did not torture me, but munshi (clerk) there harassed me through different ways. They then shifted me to JIC (joint interrogation center) Kupwara, where I was also tortured, the interrogators there would ask me about my links with militants and whereabouts of my weapon. I was released from there after three and a half months.”

 
But the vengeance did not end here; Atta-ul-lah was picked up by the police again only after one month of his release. He was kept in the police station for three days and brutally tortured during the time. Then he was taken to Budhall for seven days, then to Kupwara and Baramulla. From here he was shifted to Kot Bhalwal jail and was booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) for two years. According to him he was not tortured in jail, but when he was taken inside the jail he was stripped naked and humiliated in front of other detainees.  

“Before getting released I was sent to JIC Baramulla, where I was kept for seven days and brutally tortured by beating with thick sticks. They were asking me about the whereabouts of militants which I did not know as I was in jail. They told me that they would release me only if I was ready to become their informer, which I refused. I was kept there for a week and released after lot of humiliation, which I can’t narrate. But it was not end of my suffering, after few days I was again called upon by 6 RR military camp of our village, they kept me in custody where they embarrassed me by asking strange question and beat me on trivial pretexts. They forcibly trimmed my beard, which used to be long then. Then they shifted me to Baramulla jail for two months. Wherefrom I was released on court orders. But even after that, IB and other agencies would come to our home and harass my family members. Not bearing the harassment anymore I joined Hurriyat Conference to fight for our freedom. After joining Hurriyat I was arrested several times on different charges. Once I was arrested and detained for seven days by police, after returning from protest rally, they beat me severely and kept me on cement floor for all these days and did not allow me to offer Nimaz (prayers). During all these years I was tortured not only physically, but mentally and psychologically as well. Even today different Indian agencies come to our house and harass my family, once they came to my home and broke our all windowpanes. Now I have started living at Srinagar to avoid further mortification, I occasionally go to my home that too during night. I can’t go there during day otherwise army will come to our home and harass us”, he said.   

The continuous torture for several years has affected his health badly; he is not able to do several things, which other boys of his age group can do easily. “Because of dreadful torture and the lack of medical attention the doctors tell me that I have developed neurological complicacies. In my calves where I was beaten severely, 80% of my nerves are dead, my legs used to be much thicker than what they are today; they have reduced to half of their size. Today, I need support of another person to go upstairs. I am young but I have so many health problems, which people usually have in their old ages. I feel lot of problems while urinating due to electric shocks given to my private parts. My life has become like hell, I don’t know how I survived the torture it’s only because of grace of Allah that I am still alive today,” he said.  

TENSION AFTER KILLINGS

July 24: The otherwise busy Batmaloo remained gripped in fear and tension throughout the day, after a blast near general bus stand killed five persons. 

 The blast has sent shock waves among shopkeepers of the area as well as transporters who throng the area. However, many traders and shopkeepers, showing resilience, opened their shops later in the day but tension in the entire area was palpable.

 “I was near my shop when the blast occurred. I saw people lying on the ground, many in a pool of blood. At least four of them including two children and a lady were dead on the spot,” said Manzoor Ahmad, an eyewitness.

 According to the shopkeepers near the blast site, prior to the blast, a panic was created by rumors of an explosive device in the area. “There was a rumor that an explosive was lying in a bag and people began to run away. But it was said to be hoax and people started their movement again. Soon after, a blast took place and rumors proved to be very much true,” said a shopkeeper near the blast site.

 “I rushed towards the injured many of whom were crying for help. We asked the CRPF personnel to provide us the vehicles so that injured can be shifted to hospital, but they refused,” he said.

 
The area houses many mechanic shops. Many Jammu-bound buses depart from the site where the blast occurred. Scores of migrant laborers, many of whom were the victims, were buying tickets for a Jammu bus at the time of blast and many were loading their belongings on the bus. 

 The victims’ belongings-slippers, eatables and other goods and stains of blood could be seen on the muddled blast site. The entire area was later cordoned-off by police and paramilitary troopers as senior police and CRPF officers arrived on the spot to assess the situation.   

65 YR OLD BEATEN BY CRPF MEN

BATTLING FOR LIFE IN DHB

July 1: Ghulam Hassan Moon, 65, is battling for life at District Hospital Baramulla (DHB) after the CRPF and police personnel in Baramulla mercilessly beat him on June 30. 

According to the eyewitnesses, the police and CRPF, after day long protests and clashes barged into several houses in old town near SRTC Bridge and thrashed people irrespective of age and sex.  

Eyewitnesses said that the irate CRPF personnel broke the main gate of the house of one Ghulam Hassan Moon, 65 at Kakar Hamam. “After barging into the house, the CRPF personnel caught hold of Ghulam Hassan and beat him mercilessly. He was hit in the head and face repeatedly and was left in a pool of blood. His brother Mushtaq Ahmad tried to intervene but he too was not spared. His arm was fractured by the para-military personnel,” alleged Ghulam Mohammad, neighbour of Ghulam Hassan. 

The daughter of Ghulam Hassan said, “For about half an hour he was not allowed to be taken to the hospital and was left bleeding on the ground. Can’t they see that a 65-year-old person cannot pelt stones? This is shear hegemony and we will not tolerate this.”

Firdous Ahmad, the nephew of the injured, said, “The police and para-military personnel destroyed everything that came their way. They did not spare even women.” 

He claimed that police is refusing to lodge an FIR against the CRPF personnel. “If they continue to refuse to lodge an FIR, we would move to the court,” he added. 

However, police denied to have refused to lodge an FIR and said that they are ready to lodge it.

As the news about the incident became public, people in large numbers took to roads to protest against the incident. They asked the authorities to order a probe into the incident and punish the guilty soldiers.

FARMER KILLED IN AMBUSH

July 9:Accusing troopers and policemen of killing a farmer in cold blood, hundreds of people took to the roads at Rehram, Tangmarg in north Kashmir on July 9 demanding stern action against the erring personnel. However, Police said that the farmer was killed in cross firing. 

According to the locals, a farmer Ghulam Mohiuddin Parra was shot dead by the troopers of 2-RR and policemen on July 8 when he was on way to irrigate his fields. “He left his residence in midnight to irrigate the fields. A group of troopers without ascertaining his identity or warning fired volley of bullets at him and killed him on the spot,” said protesters.  

They said that the slain farmer was carrying a torch in his hand. “Army has directed us to move with the torch during night and all of us carry the torches as farming season is at peak,” protesters said, adding, “Militants do not move with torches. It’s a murder in cold blood and it needs to be probed.”    

However, a police spokesman said that Para was killed in cross firing, “Last night (July 8) at about 3 am, Ghulam Mohiuddin Para of Rehram got killed in cross firing between 2-RR, Budgam Police and militants at Rehram. Police has registered a case in this regard.” 

Protesters termed the police versions as a “blatant lie”. “There were no militants present in the area as there was no retaliation from the other side. Army and Police are actually trying to conceal their crime by cooking a concocted story,” they said.    

Additional Deputy Commissioner (ADC) later reached the spot and assured the protesters that the matter would be investigated and if troopers are found involved in the killing, stern action will be taken against them. 

“Family members of the victim would be given due compensation and one of them would be provided a Government job under SRO-43,” the ADC told protesters. Later Para, who is survived by four sons, two of them mentally challenged, a daughter and wife, was buried under highly charged atmosphere with many thousand people participating in his funeral. 

The situation in the area was tense and all shops and business establishments remained closed as a mark of protest. When contacted Army’s Srinagar based spokesman, Colonel Uma Maheshwar said, “This was a joint operation carried by Police and SOG, Army was supporting it externally. Army has no hand in this killing”

Meanwhile, police has registered a case under FIR No. 43/2008 and started investigations.

ARMY, POLICE LOOTED VALUABLES DURING ENCOUNTER: LOCALS

July 17: Protests rocked Warpora area of Sopore on July 17,as hundreds of agitated people came to streets and demonstrated against the alleged looting of jewellery, cash and other valuables by the troops and police personnel involved in the encounter in the village on July 16. Two militant and a policeman were killed during the gunfight and 13 others, including an army officer, an assistant commandant of CRPF and a sub-inspector of police were injured.

 The protestors accused the troops of 22 Rashtriya Rifles and 177 and 179 battalions of Central Reserve Police Force and police of stealing the gold items and other valuables from the houses during the gunfight. They told media that the troops occupied many houses during the encounter and asked the inmates to move out. The residents left their houses for safer places and on their return found the valuables including jewellery missing from their houses. 

The troops allegedly decamped with jewellery worth Rs 80,000 from the house of Muhammad Maqbool War son of Ghulam Ahmad, the protestors said. They alleged apart from jewellery, CD player and other valuables belonging to the daughter of Manzoor Ahmad War had also been stolen from his house. They alleged the troops also took away Rs 60,000 from the house of Abdul Majeed War and Rs 5,000 from the residence of Muzaffar War. The troops also took away two gold rings, a necklace, two gold bangles and other jewellery from the house of Muhammad Maqbool War, they alleged. Many residents accused the troops of ransacking their houses.
‘PAPI’ KISHTAWARI, OTHERS CHARGE SHEETED IN CONTRACTOR'S KILLING

July 4: Police on July 4 charge sheeted notorious government gunman from south Kashmir, Papa Kishtwari, along with two other persons in the murder a contractor from Nishat.

Police in its charge sheet submitted before the Chief Judicial magistrate said that Kishtwari along with Khursheed Ahmad and Ghulam Rasool Ganie killed the contractor Ali Muhammad Mir of Nishat in 1996 when he refused to follow the diktat of former renegade Ghulam Muhammad Lone alias Papa Kishtawari.

Chief prosecuting officer of the police, Zulfikar Ahmad, informed the court that Special Investigation team of police have found involvement of the three persons and have been booked under section 364,342,302,120B, 201 Rpc. 

Meanwhile the CJM court referred the case to Session court.  in 2007,the High Court had said it would monitor investigation of the case involving the notorious gunman-turned-politician who has been charged with the murder of several people.

ARSON AT JENAB SAHIB SHRINE

POLICE, CRPF ACCUSED OF SABOTAGE; GOVT TO PROBE

July 5: More than a dozen people including several journalists were injured after police and paramilitary CRPF troopers used force to break the protests, which erupted after the outbreak of fire at the shrine of Jenab Sahib (a highly revered shrine) at Soura on the city outskirts on July 5.  (Background) 

Shouting anti-India, anti-police and pro-freedom slogans, thousands of protesters took to streets minutes after they saw the shrine in flames, accusing the police and paramilitary troopers of blasting the holy place. 

The fire, according to them, broke out after they heard a strong blast inside the shrine at about 12.15 pm. “We heard a bang and immediately saw flames erupting from top of the shrine,” visibly enraged protesters told media. “We rushed toward the shrine to douse the flames.” 

They accused police of sabotage, a charge refuted by them. “The cause of fire is a blast,” the protesters alleged. “And police and CRPF men are behind it.” 

Eyewitnesses said the fire was brought under control after dozens of fire-tenders reached the spot, though late. “The fire tenders arrived 30 minutes after the fire started,” they said. 

The fire caused considerable damage to the doors, windows and roof of the shrine’s second storey. The holy relics were safe. “The shrine is guarded by police and there is a CRPF camp near it. We are sure that they played some mischief and torched the shrine,” said Muhammad Ramzan, a resident. After the incident, thousands of protesters marched toward the Soura police station amid pro-freedom slogans. Police and CRPF however swung into action and baton charged peaceful protesters, injuring at least eight. 

Reports said six photojournalists and police and CRPF also injured video-graphers in the joint action. As soon as the news spread, thousands of people including men, women and children, thronged the shrine to ascertain the damage. Inside the shrine—housing relics -hundreds of men and children had taken out their shirts, using them to clean the shrine premises. Hundreds of women were seen wailing and shouting anti-government slogans in the lawns of the shrine.

 “This is a very revered shrine and we won’t allow anyone to torch it. This is a handiwork of some miscreants who need to be punished,” said Shameema, a devotee. 

Displaying playing cards before reporters, some protesters accused the police of playing cards inside the shrine. “We recovered three sets of playing cards inside the shrine,” they said. 

The protesters demanded independent inquiry into the incident. “We want a thorough investigation to ascertain the cause of fire,” they said. 

SSP visits shrine 

SSP Srinagar Syed Ahfad-ul Mujtaba visited the shrine of Jenab Sahib at Soura on July 5 and addressed about 4,000 people who demanded probe into the arson incident. He assured that anybody found involved would be punished.

CHALLAN PRODUCED AGAINST FOOTBALL FANS

July 10: Police on July 10 produced challan against seven football fans accused of “provocative sloganeering” at Bakshi Stadium in the city during the Santosh Trophy finals in June. The challan was produced against the accused in the court of 2nd Additional district judge Srinagar under offence 153-A RPC for “promoting animosity and creating disharmony between different groups.” 

All the seven accused along with their counsel, Shabir Ahmad Bhat, were present before the court at the time of producing the challan. The court has listed the case for hearing on August 4. 

The accused were arrested from Bakshi Stadium, where hundreds of youth had reportedly raised pro-freedom and pro-Pakistan slogans during the final match of Santosh trophy in front of many VVIPs, including a union minister and the chief minister. The court of chief Judicial Magistrate had released the accused on bail after two-day police remand. The accused had alleged police of third degree torture in the custody. 

One of the accused had reportedly told before the Court that a cop had threatened him of “fake encounter” if he didn’t agree to  what they told him to do.

EX-COP SEEKS WHEREABOUTS

July 30: For nearly three decades, Abdul Ahad Reshi of Budgam donned uniform to protect people and uphold the law. But after retirement, he is out on a mission to locate whereabouts of his young son, Muhammad Younis, who went missing in the custody of Border Security Force (BSF) in 2002. 

 Life took an ugly turn for Reshi when personnel of BSF’s 118 battalion raided his house at Beeru on July 17, 2002. “The troopers accompanied by a government gunmen Ghulam Hassan alias Chottu dragged Younis and bundled him in a Gypsy. Our pleas fell on dead ears and the personnel ruthlessly thrashed and abused us. That was the last time I saw Younis,” Reshi said.  

 “My son was not a militant but used to earn his livelihood by doing embroidery work on curtains. Confident of his innocence I vowed to fight for his release,” he said. But destiny had something else in store for the old man. 

 Next day when he rushed to the BSF camp at Sanat Nagar, the personnel denied having arrested his son. “I was shocked when the BSF personnel told me they had no information about my son. However, when I recognized the personnel who had picked him, an officer offered me one lakh rupees to hush up the case. I offered him three lakh rupees to locate my son. The officer could not utter a word,” he asked. “How can a father do business on son,” he said and broke down. 

 “To wipe out evidence of my son’s custodial disappearance, the BSF personnel killed Chottu, the government gunmen. He had started to blackmail them,” he said.  

 With immense faith in police, the retired cop lodged a missing report at Beeru Police Station. “Ironically, police failed to locate whereabouts of my son or take any action against the accused. I was disappointed by the department which I served with honesty and dedication,” he said in a chocked voice.  Hoping against the hope to locate his son, Reshi visited various security camps and interrogation centers across the state, but in vain.   

 “During past 18 years, I have seen countless bodies of innocent Kashmiris handed over to the PCR by the troops. Most of them were later branded as militants. I think either my son has been killed by BSF or in languishing in some jail. As a father I have every right to know what happened to my son. It is the duty of the government to tell me is he alive or dead?,” he asked.

SHRC DIRECTIVE IN CUSTODIAL KILLING

SHO, 3 MORE COPS HELD GUILTY

July 9: The acting chairperson of the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) Habibullah Bhat has sought registration of a murder case against a Station House Officer (SHO), a police investigation officer and two police constables in a custodial killing case of 27 years old youth who was arrested by police station Rajouri last year (2007). 

Showkat Ali, son of Haji Mohammad Lateef Mughal, a resident of Rajouri was arrested by police from his home on February 13, 2007 in a theft case. He was lodged in police station Rajouri and during torture he collapsed, his family had said in a petition filed before the SHRC. The family has added that he was taken to district hospital Rajouri where he was declared dead. 

On February 19, 2007, the Commission had ordered an enquiry with respect to the alleged custodial death of Showkat. "The Commission is satisfied that Showkat had died in the custody of police. The then SHO Showkat Malik and the then Investigating Officer (IO) Gyan Singh of police station Rajouri in February 2007, along with other police officials Mohammad Razak, Tasaduq Hussain are liable for custodial death of Showkat," the SHRC judgement issued on 9 reads. 

The judgment added that a case of murder should be registered against the involved police officials and they should be prosecuted for the custodial death of Showkat. "The Commission also recommended that Rs 2 lakhs should be paid as compensations to next of kin of the deceased and out of this amount, Rupees 1 lakh should be charged in the ratio of Rs 35000 each from Showkat Malik and from the IO Gyan Singh and Rs 15000 each from Constable Mohammad Razak and Tasaduq Hussain," the judgement adds further. 

The Commission had sought a report from police in this regard. Deputy Inspector General (DIG) of police Rajouri-Poonch range, in his report, had said that the deceased was not subject to any torture and on the basis of enquiry conducted by Additional District Magistrate Rajouri the person died due to cardiac arrest, due to fear and exposure to severe cold. 

An enquiry report by Inspector General of Police Jammu Zone said that the person in custody was confronted with evidence gathered by the police and he must have been frightened of the consequences, which caused his Cardiac arrest resulting in his death. The enquiry report further said that his death was not caused due to torture. 

However, the petitioner had challenged the credibility of the enquiry report of additional district magistrate Rajouri K Sharma and in terms of the rejoinder alleged that deceased Showkat had died in the police custody because of torture. This report of Additional District Magistrate (ADM) Rajouri is based on evidence collected by him and on the basis of his own assessment of the situation, the commission has said. 

The ADM in his report had mentioned that Sakeena Begum mother of the deceased appeared before him and deposed about the arrest of her son and then his death in police custody. The enquiry officer has also recorded the statements of witnesses. These witnesses have categorically stated before the enquiry officer as to how Showkat was arrested by police and how they approached them for his release and in what manner they where avoided till they learnt about his death in custody and then they (police) had made an effort to take him to the hospital where he was declared dead. 

Medical opinion of the team of doctors, which had reported about the case of death, was also incorporated in his report. The medical opinion said, "In view of postmortem findings, viscera and his pathology reports and alleged history, we are of the opinion that deceased has died due to cardiac arrest which occurs due to fear/fright or sudden exposure to severe cold."

"The duty of the police further is that while arresting a person the guidelines laid down by the Supreme Court have to be complied with. This Commission had noticed that the police personnel in number of cases have not only made contempt of the law as laid down in the CPC but have also shown contempt to the guidelines laid down by the Apex Court. The state expects and desires that the police develop professionalism and avoid resorting to colonial type of treatment to its citizens," the Commission has observed. 

Bhat, in his judgment, has maintained that the Commission was dejected to find out the logic and reasons recorded by the ADM Rajouri who had exonerated the police of the allegations of torture. 

"The IO has ignored the trite and unassailable evidence produced before him. The Commission has not come across any reasons as to on what basis he has stated that death was not due to torture. ADM has brushed aside the evidence, which was recorded and had sat over the opinion of the doctors that the death of Showkat had taken place before he was brought to hospital," he has added.

ARMY, TA SCARE IN CHIRALLA

VILLAGERS FLEE TO THATHRI, DODA

July 15: Following alleged excesses by the troops of 4 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) and Territorial Army (TA) camping at Ghosti village in Thathri tehsil, almost entire population barring few elderly men and women have fled from village Lohar Thava Chirala of Thathri Tehsil to Thathri and Doda townships.

Villagers alleged that they have received fresh threats by some TA men who are allegedly trying to attack people on selective basis after the incident of violence in Bhadarwah. Villagers also met DDC and SSP Doda and lodged complaints against security men for their alleged excesses. They also moved an application before Chief Judicial Magistrate Balbir Jaswal who has directed the concerned station House Officer to file detailed report to the court before 10 am on July 16.

Earlier, the villagers went to respective police station in Thathri where according to them SHO tried his best to help them but later he was not ready to register FIR forcing the villagers including victims to move to the court.

According to the villagers, Lohar Thava has been one of the most peaceful villages of Thathri tehsil with no militancy related activity in and around the village since last ten years but security forces have started targeting them without any reason. They alleged that troopers were led by some local youth working in Territorial Army.

While narrating this episode, villagers said that three persons having long hair and wearing Khan dresses came to the village at 4 pm on July 12, 2008 and forcibly took away one Arshad Hussain son of Mohammad Shafi. They threatened other villagers not to chase them but despite that family members raised hue and cry attracting some other villagers. Later the Imam made an announcement from the loudspeakers of Jamia Masjid.

 Villagers chased the abductors and rescued Arshad Ahmad. They said that when they were coming back to their homes, a group of 15 RR men allegedly led by Major Sudhesh separated all bearded men and started beating them. When women tried to intervene they were also beaten up some of them were injured. One 6-year-old girl namely Saima suffered fracture in her arm.

A group of villagers who also met the media persons said that they decided to go to Thathari for treatment and lodge FIR against the security men but police was not ready to register the case and some suspected men started harassing them at Thathri. They said that some security men had gone to their village and indulged in looting cash and ornaments. Villagers said that they have issued threats to burn down the entire village. 

Following these threats villagers decided to leave the area. Some of the women and young people who were present in the village fled during last night and reached to Doda and Thatheri towns.

Meanwhile SSP Doda has ordered to conduct medical examination of all the victims allegedly beaten up by the security men. Villagers first took the victims to DDC Doda who send them to SSP Doda for further investigation. The SSP Doda deputed a police party to take all the victims to hospital for legal formalities. Villagers said that both the officers assured them that enquiry would be conducted and culprits punished.

EX-GRATIA ENHANCED TO RS 5 LAKHS

GOVT OFFERS MORE CASH IN LIEU OF JOB

July 14: In a major policy decision, the government has decided to do away with the practice of granting compassionate appointments to the next of kin of those civilians killed in violence. Instead, it has decided to offer them a choice of compensation. 

At present there are 4600 SRO-43 cases pending with the deputy commissioners of various districts. 

On July 4, the government issued an SRO 199 stating that it has made amendment in the Jammu and Kashmir Compassionate Appointment Rule, 1994. The SRO says, “The family members of the deceased civilians killed in militancy related actions shall be entitled to a cash compensation in lieu of appointment in government service.” 

The SRO issued by the commissioner secretary General Administration Department however says, if any one among the family members of the deceased civilian fulfills the eligibility criteria prescribed under the rules for the appointment into the government service or acquires such eligibility within one year from the date of death of the deceased person, then they shall have the option either to choose the government service or the cash compensation. 

Sources said the order would have retrospective effect. They said the each family has a choice of either to avail the compensation or to wait for the job if the next of kin of deceased is eligible. Senior officials of the GAD said that government has increased the compensation amount to Rs 5 lakhs. 

Earlier, the government was giving ex-gratia relief of Rs 1 lakh and government job for the eligible candidates. Sources said when Ghulam Nabi Azad took over as the chief minister of the state there were few posts available in the districts. The chief minister Azad, sources said took the initiative and earmarked 986 posts for SRO-43 cases in the districts when the first appointments were made at the district level for class fourth jobs. Later when 3000 class fourth jobs were identified, again another 1000 posts (4th class) were earmarked for the SRO 43 cases. 

However, officials said that still 4600 SRO cases remained pending even government had filled nearly 2000 posts of SRO 43 cases. Mostly, the officials said, the persons seeking jobs under the SRO 43 cases were either not eligible or they were lacking the qualification prompting the government to give them a choice. 

“The order would save the victims from waiting for jobs or seeking relaxation of rules if they are over-aged,” said an official.

ARMY MAN NABBED WITH HEROIN WORTH RS 1 CR

July 20: An army personnel has been arrested by Jammu and Kashmir Police on July 19, for allegedly possessing heroin worth Rs one crore in Rajouri district of Jammu region. 

 The police launched a manhunt after receiving a tip off from an informer on July 19. They got hold of the personnel identified as Sumeet Singh near Inphaja Morh in Kandi area. They recovered heroin worth Rs 1 crore from him. According to police officials, Sumeet Singh belongs to the 13 Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry and is currently posted in Udhampur. He was on official leave when nabbed.

 The Army spokesperson, Col SD Goswami, told media persons, “Singh has been arrested and we have ordered a court of inquiry into the alleged charges against him.”

CUSTODIAL DISAPPEARANCE

COURT SEEKS COLONEL’S PRESENCE BEFORE POLICE

July 11: The Court has directed the army authorities to ensure the presence of a Colonel before police for probing the custodial disappearance of a Kashmiri youth allegedly picked up by the army officials six years back. The court direction came after the investigating police officers showed reluctance to interrogate the Colonel Malhotra currently posted at Drass.

Justice Hakim Imtiyaz Hussain directed the concerned army authorities to ensure presence of Colonel Kishore Malhotra before SSP Srinagar within three weeks of investigation. The Colonel, accused of enforced disappearance of Manzoor Ahmed Dar of Rawalpora was evading appearance before police for the past six years.

According to the investigation carried out by police till date, the Army official was the mastermind of the abduction and enforced disappearance of Manzoor Ahmed Dar.

Manzoor, a pharmacist was picked up by troopers of Rashtriya Rifles in the intervening night of January 18 and 19 in 2002 from his house in the dead of the night.

Police investigations revealed that Col Malhotra was in command of the RR unit active in Kralpora and adjoining areas during the period. The army official, according to police, directed his subordinates to pick up civilians in the name of countering insurgency. Manzoor was picked up like many other civilians who never returned to their family after arrest.

GUNS LOOMING OVER STUDENTS IN ITI BLA SINCE 1992

CRPF HOLDING 99% OF INSTITUTE PREMISES

‘GOVT PROVIDED THIS ACCOMMODATION’
July 18: Industrial Training Institute (ITI) Baramulla is functioning from a single building as 20 kanal land of the institute, five workshops, all garages, a generator shed and a chowkidar shed are under the occupation of paramilitary CRPF since 1992.Principal of the ITI, G M Bhat said that the training and studies of trainees had been badly hit with the presence of CRPF in the institute who have occupied almost all buildings of the institute.

"Most of the 20 kanal of land are under them. Besides, five workshops, all garages, a generator shed and a Chowkidar shed too have been occupied by them," he said demanding their eviction from institution.

Encircled by sandbag bunkers and razor wire fences, the ITI looks like a mini war zone and the trainees are always on tenterhooks with a gun of the paramilitary CRPF troopers pointing at them. The 53 battalion of paramilitary CRPF troopers occupied the under construction ITI Baramulla in 1992 during the heydays of armed rebellion and since then have stayed put.

According to them, the training of the trainees has been badly hit due to the institution’s occupation by the CRPF. The students here also complained of being subjected to daily frisking by the CRPF men present on the ITI gate.

 “I’m subjected to daily harassment ever since I got admission in the institute a year back,” said a trainee Imtiyaz Ahmed pointing towards the inscription at the entrance bunker that reads: "Please show your I-card."

The students said that the fear of paramilitary troopers haunts them and they always worry about their safety on the campus.

 “How can we read under the shadow of guns? Even a single misfire can break hell here," the students added. Citing a two months back example, the students said that after a tyre burst on highway, the troopers mistook it as an attack and took positions. "We were terrified and thought it is the end," they said.

The occupation of workshops and garages by troopers has also paralyzed the business of many trades in Baramulla.

"The infrastructure for electricians, tractor mechanics, motor mechanics, fitters, turners and wielder trades is occupied by the troopers. The trainees cannot carry requisite experiments here for this reason," the staff members said, adding that all departments are functioning in a single building, which was entirely for the purpose of administrative block. The teachers and students said that their joy knew no bounds when last year (2007) they heard that troopers would vacating all buildings and educational institutions under their occupation.” But it proved out be a hoax," said a group of students.

PRO CRPF, Prabhakar Tripathi told media that the State had provided this accommodation to them through police.” We will vacate the institution only if the State provides us with an alternate accommodation," he said.

CRPF’S WISH TO SET UP CAMP IN RESHIPORA SPARKS PROTEST

‘THEY ARE ASKING US TO VACATE OUR HOUSE’

July 25: The residents of Reshipora village of central district of Budgam held protest demonstrations against the security forces, who have asked them to vacate their houses for establishment of camp. Authorities said Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) is in need of land for camp, but they would not be allowed to dislocate the residents. CRPF said they have been permitted by district through police to acquire the houses.

According to these residents on July 19, security forces cordoned off their village (Reshipora) and marked some houses and red flags were erected on the rooftops of these houses. They said that after one day the CRPF asked them to vacate their homes and they are going to erect the camp.

“They told us that they (CRPF) are in need of this land and structures and that will be paying us rent,” the protestors alleged. “This is our property from past decades and also for the future, how come they ask us to vacate,” an aged villager told media. “We will not vacate and we do not need any rent,” he added.

The protesting residents said during the past 19 years of militancy they were not asked to vacate their houses. “Now there is zero militancy in Budgam, what for is CRPF going to establish a camp,” the residents questioned. 

The protesting residents met the Divisional Commissioner Kashmir and threatened to Gherao Raj Bhawan incase the CRPF went ahead with their plan of establishing the camp.

Public Relations Officer CRPF Prabakar Tripathi admitted that CRPF is going to establish a camp in Reshipora village for assisting police into CI (Counter Insurgency) operations in Budgam. He claimed that CRPF has got permission from administration through police.

 “We are not establishing the camp on our own, we have been permitted by administration and we never acquire land or any building on our own,” PRO said.

Contrary to Tripathy’s statement, SSP Budgam Aftab Ahmad Kakroo told media, “I do not know any thing about this issue and it is not in my notice. I will personally look into it tomorrow,” the police officer said.

Divisional Commissioner Kashmir Masood Samoon confirmed to media that residents met him and that he had assured them that no one would be allowed to dislocate them. “CRPF needs some land in Budgam and I have directed the DC to see the problems of these villagers,” Samoon said adding, “No one will be asked to leave, we will give an alternate place to the CRPF.”

YOUTH KIDNAPPED, SHOT DEAD IN DODA

July 15:A youth was kidnapped and then shot dead by the gunmen in Bhagla area of Doda district on July 14.Reports said that 24 year old youth identified as Ghulam Mohammad Gujjar, son of Hussain Gujjar of Bhagla Doda was kidnapped by unidentified gunmen from his house on July 14 at 9 PM.He was shifted to Ludna nallah 5 to 6 kilometers away from his house and later shot him dead at 1 AM. The militants escaped from the area after killing the youth. The villagers noticed the body lying in the nallah on July 15.

The body was handed over to his family members for last rites after postmortem and other legal formalities. Police has launched a search operation to flush out the ultras.

SON IMPLICATED IN FALSE CASE BY SOG: FAMILY

July 16: A family on July 16 alleged that SOG Bandipora had arrested their son 10 days ago and was being implicated in false cases. Ashiq Hussain Ganai, 16, son of Ghulam Nabi Ganai of Sumblar, Bandipora was picked by SOG Bandipora last week. 

 “They are falsely implicating him in the case. Ashiq is a student and he has nothing to do with militancy,” said the family members. 

However, police maintains its claim that he has been arrested in connection with the militancy- related incident. “We have reports that he has links with the militants. We are investigating into it,” a senior police official said.
THROAT-SLIT BODY RECOVERED

July 16: Police recovered a throat-slit body of a shopkeeper Ghulam Nabi Khan, 35, son of Rehmatullah Khan of Halmatpora, Haihama, Kupwara in a maize field on July 16.Khan had gone missing on July 15.Station House Officer (SHO) Kupwara, Inspector Showkat Ahmed said that the case was not militancy related and was purely a case of crime. Police has sent the body for post-mortem reports.

MILITANTS ALLEGEDLY TONSURE 2 GIRLS IN DODA

July 20: Unidentified gunmen tonsured two girls, accusing them of working with the troops in Doda district of Jammu region, police officials said. The incident took place in a village in Gandoh area of the mountainous district on evening of July 19. The two girls—Mubina and Safeena—were grazing their cattle in Bathiyas village in Gandoh, when two gunmen waylaid them and tonsured them.

 "The gunmen said this was a punishment for working with the troops," the officials said. Police is investigating the matter.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· MORE MILITANTS HAVE ARRIVED: IGP   
July 3: The Inspector General of Police (IGP), Shiv Murari Sahai said the “infiltration bids are going on” across the Line of Control (LoC) and fresh batches of militants have arrived in the Pir Pinjal range.

“The infiltration is going through Pir Panjal range and many militants have sneaked through it,” Sahai said on the sidelines of a press conference at SOG camp Sangam. 

“We are also not in a position to tell the exact number of active militants present in the Valley as new militant have come in,” said Sahai said.

· NUMBER OF MILITANTS COME DOWN: DGP  

July 20: Director General of Police Kuldeep Khoda said that the number of militants operating in the State had come down. “I cannot quantify it, but it could be around 1000.”

“Only thing I would like to say is that infiltration has not stopped,” he said. About the infiltration numbers, the DGP said, “It is very difficult to say that; but in 2007 it was in the range of 400-500 and this year the number has been, may be, slightly less but the pattern is the same.”

· NO CUSTODIAL KILLING IN MY REGIME: AZAD  

July 29: Former chief minister and senior Congress leader, Ghulam Nabi Azad while addressing a rally at Doda claimed that “militancy had ended and there was no custodial killing” during his regime.

EXPLOSIONS

· GRENADE ATTACK ON CRPF HEADQUARTER
July 7:Militants lobbed a grenade towards 23 Bn CRPF Headquarter at Karan Nagar, located about 1 km from the Jammu and Kashmir Assembly, injuring a CRPF personnel. He was identified as constable Muhammad Ali, Belt No 041654022.

· EXPLOSION ROCKS SARAF KADAL    
July 8:According to police, a 60-yr old man identified as Habibullah was injured in a grenade explosion in old city. Unknown persons lobbed a grenade towards a CRPF bunker of 160 battalion near Saraf Kadal.

“The device missed the target and exploded on the road injuring a 60-yr old shopkeeper. He was rushed to a hospital.” said a police official.

· COP KILLED IN GRENADE ATTACK
July 9:Suspected militants lobbed a grenade at a Naka party of police at Naghama Kralagund area, killing a head constable and critically wounding another constable. The deceased head constable has been identified as Muhammad Irfan Tantray while as the constable Muzaffar Ahmad received grievous injuries. 

In another grenade attack at a bunker at Saraf Kadal in Shahr-e-Khass, a civilian was wounded. The grenade exploded on the roadside causing minor injuries to the civilian.

· COP KILLED, 4 WOUNDED IN DODA GRENADE ATTACK

July 14: A special police officer was killed and four others injured when militants lobbed a grenade towards district police lines in Doda. The killed policeman has been identified as Manzoor Ahmad Banday son of Abdul Wahid of Bharat village (No. 59/SPO). The incident occurred less than 300 meters away from the main gates of highly guarded District Police Lines (DPL) Doda at Mohalla Dumra on Doda Dessa road at 1.50 PM. The assailants, however, managed to escape without any intervention from police.

· FATHER DEAD, SON INJURED IN MYSTERIOUS BLAST  
July 17: One person was killed and his six-year-old son injured in a mysterious blast on July 17 at Heirpora Awantipora in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district. The residents of Heirpora Awantipora said that they heard a big bang at around 8:15 pm and added that when they reached the blast site they found one Muhammad Yusuf Bhat son of Muhammad Ismail dead and his son Mudasir, 6, critically injured in their cow shed.

According to police, the deceased Bhat might have found some explosive devise in the cow shed and fiddled with it unaware of what it was. Locals said that the two cows in the shed were also lying dead.

· HIZB BLASTS ARMY VEHICLE
     10 SOLDIERS KILLED, 25 HURT
July 19:At least ten soldiers were killed and 25 injured in a powerful blast that ripped through an Army bus on the outskirts of Srinagar.

Police said at around 4pm an improvised explosive device (IED) went off targeting the Army convoy near Narbal, 15 kilometers from Srinagar, on the Srinagar-Baramulla highway. The soldiers were traveling from border area of Uri to Army’s 15 Corps headquarters in Srinagar.

According to the eyewitness, the impact was so severe that the bus was reduced to a scrap of iron. The Hizbul Mujahideen outfit has claimed responsibility for the attack.

· BLAST ROCKS GULMARG
July 20: A tourist and a civilian were killed and four others were injured in a grenade blast in the famous ski-resort Gulmarg in north Kashmir’s Varmul district. Unidentified persons hurled a grenade near the Gulmarg Sumo stand at 5 pm killing a tourist, Ashok Kumar son of Ram Shanker of UP on the spot and critically injuring four persons. A boy identified as Muhammad Yousuf son of Jalaluddin of Baba Reshi succumbed to his injuries on way to the hospital. 

 Nobody had claimed responsibility for the attack till this report was filed.

· PILGRIMS VEHICLE ATTACKED: 2 COPS AMONG 4 INJURED

July 20: Grenades were lobbed on vehicles carrying the pilgrims to holy in central district of Ganderbal, police said. 

Director General of police Kuldeep Khoda maintained that the grenades were hurled at the vehicles carrying Amarnath pilgrims from Srinagar to Baltal at Gangbug near Nagbal.

“In the grenade attack, 2 CRPF personnel and 2 civilians got injured. After militants fired upon the pilgrims, the security personnel retaliated.”DGP added.

· 5 KILLED IN BATMALOO BLAST  
4 CHILDREN AMONG DEAD; 25 INJURED

July 24: Five people, including four children, were killed and 25 others injured when an unidentified person hurled a grenade in the general bus stand at Batmaloo. Five members of the ill-fated family killed in the blast were identified as Rubeena Khatoon (32), Khushboo alias Tabina (12), Mohammad Ayoob (8), Abdul Qayoom (5) and Adil (4). 

· GRENADE ATTACK AT SOPORE 

July 24:Suspected militants lobbed a grenade and fired on paramilitary CRPF troopers in north Kashmir’s Sopore town. Reports said that a grenade was hurled towards the picket of 179 Battalion CRPF posted at State Bank of India Sopore branch which missed the intended target and exploded on the road. Militants also fired on the troops, which was retaliated. However, no causality has been reported.  

· TROOPER HURT IN BLAST  

July 25:An Army trooper was seriously injured in a landmine blast in nallah post area of Sanjian in Poonch district, official sources said. The trooper, identified as Sepoy B R Singh of 4 Bihar, got injured as a mine exploded while troops were patrolling near the Line of Control (LOC) in Poonch district.

REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES

· MAN GO MISSING
July 4: According to Police Noor Hussain, 22, son of Ghulam Mohammad, resident of Kawath, Jammu has been reportedly missing from June 25, 2008 from his house. Police have taken cognizance.
· MAN GOES MISSING
July 9: A man went missing from his residence since last one month. Police said that Hussain, 30, son of Umer Din of Hathi Kwah under the jurisdiction of Police Station Chatroo has reportedly been missing since one month. Police have taken cognizance.

SUICIDES BY TROOPS

· RR PERSONNEL SHOT DEAD IN CASE OF MISTAKEN IDENTITY 
July 7:A soldier of 20 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) was killed when Army’s operational party mistakenly opened fire on him near Kakwa Gali in Karnah. According to police, the deceased has been identified as Satish Kumar (No. 400163500). The deceased along with his party was heading towards Kakwa Gali to take over post duties. Proceeding under section 174 Cr PC have been initiated, police said.

· CONSTABLE COMMITS SUICIDE  
July 8: A police constable committed suicide on July 8 in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district. He was identified as Constable Bilal Ahmed Bhat, Belt No 630/IR4th, of Mallaganipora, Sopore. He consumed some poisonous substance at his home, police said. Police registered a case 174 Cr PC and started investigation.

· TROOPER COMMITS SUICIDE
July 8: A trooper allegedly ended his life by committing suicide in Batote area of Ramban district. He was identified as Signalman D Tejashwar Rao, 23,of Counter Intelligence Force (CIF) Delta Signal Regiment. He shot himself dead with his service weapon inside an army camp at Darmund, Batote. A court of inquiry has been ordered to probe the matter.

· SOLDIER SHOOTS SELF
July 15: A trooper committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle in Nagrota area of Jammu.

“The soldier Mustappah, 26, of Belgaum, Karnataka, was posted in 9 Madras Regiment at Nagrota,” sources said adding that he shot himself with his service rifle at around 9:15 AM during guard duty at 103 Engineering Unit in Nagrota area and died on the spot. A court of inquiry has been ordered.

KILLINGS 
	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	July 01
	1
	2
	1
	-

	JULY 02
	-
	6
	-
	-

	JULY 03
	-
	2
	-
	-

	JULY 04
	5
	4
	-
	-

	JULY 05
	-
	1
	2
	-

	JULY 06
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 07
	1
	-
	    -
	-

	JULY 08
	2
	2
	1
	-

	JULY 09
	1
	1
	-
	             -

	JULY 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 12
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 14
	1
	-
	-
	1(VDC member)

	JULY 15
	1
	-
	1
	-

	JULY 16
	1
	3
	-
	-

	JULY 17
	-
	-
	1
	-

	JULY 18
	-
	5
	-
	-

	JULY 19
	10
	4
	1
	-

	JULY 20
	2
	2
	2
	-

	JULY 21
	-
	3
	1
	-

	JULY 22
	1
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 23
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 24
	-
	-
	8
	1(Former militant)

	JULY 25
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 26
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 27
	-
	2
	-
	-

	JULY 28
	1
	-
	1
	-

	JULY 29
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 30
	-
	-
	-
	-

	JULY 31
	-
	-
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	27
	37
	19
	2

	                                                                                   In Total
	85 Killings



	Date
	Custodial and Extra judicial Killings
	Women Killed
	Children Killed
	Alleged Disappearances

	JULY 14
	      1
	       -
	       -
	      -

	JULY 19
	-
	-
	-
	1

	JULY 20
	-
	 -
	1
	-

	JULY 24
	-
	 2
	6
	-

	TOTAL
	 1
	 2
	7
	1


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS
July1: A person was killed due to a tear gas shell that exploded on his chest when he was watching protest demonstrations from the yard of his house. He was identified as Abdul Gani Sheikh, 75,son of Abdul Samad of Ganie Mohalla Budgam. Meanwhile, an Army officer and two militants were killed in an encounter in Karnah sector of Kupwara.

July2: Army claimed to have killed six more militants at Nasthachun pass, in Karnah sector of Kupwara.

July3: Police claimed to have killed Operational chief of Lashkar-e-Toiba along with his associate at Batpora–Sangam in Pulwama district of South Kashmir. They were identified as Abu Atif alias Shadak and Syed Moin, both Pakistani nationals.

July 4:Army claimed to have killed three more militants in an encounter in Karnah sector of Kupwara, five soldiers, including two JCO’s were also killed in the gunfight. Meanwhile, police has claimed to have killed a Jaish-e-Muhammad militant during a joint operation with CRPF at Batpora area in Pulwama. The slain militant has been identified as Shabir Ahmad alias Arsalan s/o Muhammad Akbar Lone of Algar Kandi Pulwama.

July 5: Police and army claimed to have killed the section commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba during an encounter at Panjan Gali in Doda.He was identified as Tawheed Ahmed Bhat son of Ghulam Hyder of Sajan Doda.Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen shot at and killed Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din Rather (45) son of Ghulam Rasool of Hardu Shiva Sopore in the outskirts of the village. Police has registered a case in this regard. In another incident, Feroz Ahmad Khan of Shaher-e-Khaas, who was injured in police action during the protests against the allotment of forestland to Amaranth Shrine Board on June 24, succumbed to his injuries on July 5.

July 6:A constable identified as Muhammad Mushtaq, Belt No 668/Pl was injured in a gunfight between militants and a joint team of police and army at Ganie Mohalla Zainapora Wachi in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district. 

July 7:A soldier of 20 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) identified as Satish Kumar (No. 400163500). Was killed when Army’s operational party mistakenly opened fire on him near Kakwa Gali in Karnah.

July 8: Police claimed to have killed two militants in north Kashmir’s Sumriyal forest area in Kupwara district. The slain militants have been identified as Muhammad Amin Beigh alias Vikas son of Ali Muhammad of Kunasa Guzerbal and Qari Anus of Sialkote Pakistan. In another incident, a police constable identified as Constable Bilal Ahmed Bhat, Belt No 630/IR4th, of Mallaganipora, Sopore committed suicide in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district. Meanwhile, a Jawan identified as Signalman D.Tejashwar Rao, 23,of Counter Intelligence Force (CIF) Delta Signal Regiment allegedly ended his life by committing suicide in Batote area of Ramban district. Whileas, police said that a man was killed during cross firing between militants and troops during an encounter at Rerum area in Kunzer Varmul. The deceased has been identified as Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din Para son of Reshi Para of Rerum. Police has registered a case

July 9: Police and troops of 10-PARA claimed to have killed a militant during an encounter at Shokhbaba forests area in Bandipora area of Varmul.The identity of the slain militant is being ascertained. Meanwhile, suspected militants lobbed a grenade at a Naka party of police at Naghama Kralagund area, killing a head constable and critically wounding another constable. The deceased head constable has been identified as Muhammad Irfan Tantray while as the constable Muzaffar Ahmad received grievous injuries. 

July 10:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 11:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 12:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 13:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 14: A special police officer was killed and four others injured when militants lobbed a grenade towards district police lines in Doda.The killed policeman has been identified as Manzoor Ahmad Banday son of Abdul Wahid of Bharat village (No. 59/SPO). Meanwhle, Unidentified gunmen kidnapped and later shot dead a Village Defence Committee (VDC) member, Prem Nath son of Paras Ram of Durbeel Chatroo, Kishtwar.

July 15: A trooper identified as Mustappa H (26) of Belgaum, Karnataka, committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle in Nagrota area of Jammu. Meanwhile, A youth identified as Ghulam Mohammad Gujjar24, son of Hussain Gujjar of Bhagla Doda was kidnapped and then shot dead by unidentified militants in Bhagla area of Doda district on July 14 at 9 PM. And was later shot dead at 1 AM.

July 16: Two militants and SPO were killed in a fierce gun battle between the militants and Army in Warpora village near Sopore.The SPO was identified as Abdul Rashid (belt No 1831/SPO). The slain militants were identified as district commander Jaish-e- Mohammad Hilal Ahmad alias Tariq alias Khalid son of Mohammad Sultan Sofi resident of warpora Sopore and Ali Raza, a Pakistani national. Meanwhile, Troops of 4 RR eliminated a Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) commander in an encounter at Sartingal area of Bhaderwah in an encounter. He has been identified as Abu Aqasha of Pakistan.

July 17: Muhammad Yusuf Bhat son of Muhammad Ismail of Heripoa was killed and his six-year-old son Mudasir injured in a mysterious blast at Heirpora Awantipora in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district. 

July 18: An army personnel guarding a forward post along the Line of Control (LoC) in Poonch sector was critically injured when militants fired at the post. He was identified as Col S D Goswami. Meanwhile, Army claimed to have killed five militants during a gunfight at Gulab Post Danjadi Nallah Hyhama near Line of Control (LoC) in Kupwara.

July 19:At least ten soldiers were killed and twenty five injured in the powerful explosion that ripped through an Army bus at Narabal, on the outskirts of Srinagar.Meanwhile, Police and troops claimed to have killed a militant during an encounter at Kona forest area in Bandipora .The identity of the slain militant is being ascertained. In another incident, a civilian was shot dead by the gunmen in his house at village Tulli in Gulabgarh area of Mahore in Reasi district. He has been identified as Mushtaq Ahmed son of Mohd Shafi, a resident of Tulli, Gulabgarh Whileas, army claimed to have killed three militants who were trying to infiltrate into Indian Territory from Pakistan at North Kashmir's Machil Sector of Kupwara. 

July 20: Militants gunned down an army officer and a policeman in a fierce encounter in Rajouri district of Jammu region. They were identified as Major Bhanu Pratap, 29, of 43 Rashtriya Rifles, resident of Jaipur and a Head Constable of Special Operation Group (SOG) Anjeev Rana, number 745/Rajouri, resident of Jagneta in district Doda.Meanwhile, a tourist identified as Ashok Kumar son of Ram Shanker of UP and a civilian identified as Muhammad Yousuf chopan, 13, son of Jalaluddin of Baba Reshi were killed and four others were injured in a grenade blast in Gulmarg in north Kashmir’s Varmul district. In another incident, two militants including a district commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba were killed at Chittay Banday, Bandipora. They were identified as district commander, Abu Zaid alias Abu Zair of Pakistan and a militant of Al-Badr, Gowhar Ahmad alias Akash of Shopian. 

July 21: Police claimed to have killed two Lashkar militants in Nagabal, Derand Ganderbal.The slain militants were identified as Syed Abid Ahmad alias Akasha son of Mukhtar Ahmad of Punjab Pakistan and Sageer Shah alias Garian son of Hassan Shah of Iptabad Subah Sarah Pakistan. However, residents of the area alleged that the duo was killed in a fake encounter. Meanwhile, police claimed to have killed Hizbul Mujahideen’s battalion commander at Wadderbala, Handwara in North Kashmir. He was identified as Hizb’s battalion Commander, Abdul Ahad Mir alias Haroon.In another incident, police claimed that unidentified gunmen abducted and later killed a man at Nikian Top Gulabgarh in Udhampur. He was identified as Mushtaq Ahmed son of Muhammad Shafi of Tuli (Maral) presently residing at Nikian Top (Gulab Garh).

July 22: A Border Security Force (BSF) man identified as Havildar Bhanwar Singh of 192 Bn BSF was killed when militants fired upon the patrolling party at Dobh Mukhyari in Poonch sector. 

July 23: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 24: Five people, including four children, were killed and 25 others injured when an unidentified person hurled a grenade in the general bus stand at Batmaloo. Five members of the ill-fated family killed in the blast were identified as Rubeena Khatoon (32), Khushboo alias Tabina (12), Mohammad Ayoob (8), Abdul Qayoom (5) and Adil (4). Meanwhile, a surrendered Hizbul Mujahideen militant and three of his family members were killed in a terror attack in Jammu and Kashmir’s Doda district. He was identified as Ghulam Hassan Wani, 50,his 45-year old wife Azima Begum and daughter Ashiya (12), while as, Ghulam Hassan's five-year-old nephew Tausif and son Mohammad Yasir, 18, were seriously injured and later evacuated to District Hospital Doda. Tausif later succumbed to his injuries.

July 25: An Army trooper identified as Sepoy B R Singh of 4 Bihar got injured as a mine exploded while troops were patrolling near the Line of Control (LOC) in Poonch district.

July 26: A 55-year-old women was seriously injured when unidentified gunmen fired towards her house at Ajas area of Bandipora. She was identified as Khutnie Begum wife of Late Muhammad Shafi Khan.

July 27: Police and army claimed to have killed two militants in Lolab area of Kupwara. They were identified as —Abdullah, Battalion Commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) and Abu Baker of Jaish-e-Mohammad

July 28: A trooper of 22-Rajput was killed in Nowgam Sector of frontier district of Kupwara on Line of Control (LoC). He was identified as identified as Sepoy Mahesh. Meanwhile, Mushtaq Ahmad Dar, 30, son of Khazir Muhammad of Barzulla Bhagat, Srinagar, who was injured in the Batmaloo blast on July 24,succumbed to his injuries at SKIMS.

July 29: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 30:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

July 31:Unidentified gunmen shot at and injured Syed Mubarik Shah son of Abdul Gani Shah (retired DSP) of S D Colony Batamaloo.


“They (army) mangled all the temporary structures at Tangmarg-Narbal crossing. The destroyed structures are of local corn and fruit sellers. Besides this they ransacked many residential houses,” said on-duty policeman who did not want to give his name.


“During interrogation, they (Army) told us that they have lost 10 of their men and they will now take revenge,” said Muhammad Ayub who had torture marks all over his body.


They also tempted me if I reveal any name I would be rewarded but I incessantly pleaded my innocence and unawareness about the incident.








ALLEGED ATTACK ON TAXI DRIVER, PASSENGERS SPARKS PROTEST


July 31:Local taxi drivers held a protest demonstration against attack on their colleague and some passengers by the activists of Shiv Sainiks and BJP near Udhampur.


When the news spread that some drivers and passengers were severely beaten up by the activists of Shiv Sainiks and BJP, large number of drivers took to the streets and shouted slogans against the incident. The protesters also shouted slogans against police alleging they have given free hand to the extremist elements in Jammu to beat Kashmiris and to damage their properties.


The agitated protesters said that Sartaj Ahmad Hajam a Tata Sumo driver was critically injured when Shiv Sainiks and BJP activists attacked his vehicle and severely beat him up and the rest of the passengers boarding the vehicle. The protesters said that police party was watching the whole scene from a short distance as mute spectators without bothering to rescue the hapless driver and the passengers. 


The protesters voiced their anger and said that for the last two weeks dozens of Kashmiri drivers and passengers were mercilessly beaten up by the mobs and their vehicles were damaged at Jammu and other places along the Srinagar-Jammu national highway.


 "Under such hostile environment, we cannot ply our vehicles on the route," said a driver in protest and demanded punishment for those who have been taking law in their own hands to harass the Kashmiri drivers and passengers.


The protesters said that if police and security forces failed to provide them the elaborate security, they would be forced to discontinue the service. The drivers said that the attack against them was unexpected because the highway was calm and the authorities had not cautioned people about the possibility of such attacks. 


The protesters said that after beating up drivers and passengers the mob smashed windowpanes of various vehicles including a Tempo traveler and damaged its bonnet.





On July 16, activists of Hindu extremist organization Bajrang Dal attacked a Muslim contractor as part of their campaign on the Amarnath land controversy. 


Sources said the contractor, Manzoor Ahmed Malik, was attacked when he was passing through Dhangri area of Rajouri. Though Malik later managed to escape but his vehicle was damaged. As the news of the attack spread in the town, large number of youth belonging to Muslim community gathered at Gujjar Mandi chowk and started protests.


Feeling the pulse of the situation, the administration deployed large number of police and paramilitary personal in the town to avoid any group clash. The protesting Muslims were demanding immediate action against the attackers who they said had let loose a reign of terror among the Muslim community. 


Police later claimed to have arrested all those responsible for the attack.





3 KASHMIRIS HELD IN MUMBAI





July 29: Three Kashmiri youth were detained by crime branch of the Mumbai police for questioning in connection with the Ahmedabad serial bomb blasts from a hostel at Bhendi Bazar in south Mumbai.


 Police sources said crime branch sleuths detained three people, hailing from Kashmir, at around 11 pm from Iqbal Hostel in the densely populated area of Bhendi Bazar for questioning.


They were believed to be staying in the hostel for last couple of months, the sources said adding it is not yet established that they had played any role in the recent bomb blasts at Bangalore and Ahmedabad. But sources said they were being interrogated.





GRENADE THROWERS TURN OUT TO BE ARMY INFORMERS


July 16: In a startling revelation, four persons who were wanted in cases of grenade attacks in public places and were arrested by police in Handwara have turned out to be army informers.


A top police official wishing anonymity told media on July 16 that the four persons—Shahnawaz Ahmad, Mudasir Ahmad, Musaib Ahmad and Farooq Ahmad--who were "most wanted" in the police records for grenade blasts in Handwara were actually army informers.


The police official said that during preliminary investigation the accused revealed that they are working for the Army as informers in Handwara Tehsil and its adjoining areas. He said the identity cards of the arrested men showed "army sources" as their profession. But Dr Haseeb Mughal, the Superintendent of Police Handwara, said the arrested men have links with Lashkar-e-Toiba militant outfit and they were active in the area for the past two years. He said police was interrogating the arrested men for further information.


"These men were involved in grenade throwing incidents in Handwara and Baramulla. 


"In the month of June, a head constable was killed in one of the grenade blasts in Handwara market," Dr Haseeb said.





July 17: Police has arrested three youth for the killing of a constable Irfan Ahmad in Kralgund area of Handwara a week ago. Army denies the charges and said they do not know these youth. Police identified the arrested youth as Shahnaz Ahmad Khan of Supernaghama Kralgund, Mudasir Ahmad Lone Khipora Kralgund and Musaib Bhat of Model Town Sopore.


Police said that the trio was working for both 32 Rashtriya Rifles and Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT). “A Special Investigating Team (SIT) was formed to probe the cop’s killing and they got information that a module of local trained militants were involved in hurling of grenade on police party in Kralgund and subsequent killing of our constable in a grenade blast,” outgoing superintendent of police Handwara Dr Haseeb Mughal told media. He said the group is also involved in a grenade attack in Baramulla a fortnight ago and SSP Baramulla Anand Jain endorsed his statement.


A senior police officer of SIT on the basis of anonymity told media that the group besides working for LeT was also working for 32 RR. “After killing the policemen they were going to give the weapon of the slain cop to army and earn money,” police officer told media.


 “They have revealed it during sustained questioning in our custody,” he added. The officer said that the trio was working for the army since the last one and a half year. “They have provided them specific information about the presence of militants and also helped Qari Usman the district commander of LeT for Baramulla to execute his plans,” the police officer said.


The trio has a long list of complaints registered against them, but police has not touched them. “They are involved into extortion and kidnapping in Rafiabad belt,” said a middle rung police officer in Baramulla adding,


 “They have been witnessed roaming frequently with weapons in Qaziabad belt of Baramulla.”


Army denied the charge and said there is no knowledge about the youth at all. Brigadier J S Sandhu of 5 Sector RR told media, “We do not know these youth at all,” he said and added, “This is false and they are LeT operatives.”











FEAR COMES FULL CIRCLE IN BANDIPORA


July 21:Bandipora residents alleged that masked men supported by BSF and army are terrorizing some villages of Bandipora.


According to locals, some masked men with able support of army and BSF roam at night and throw stones at the residential houses. On the evening of July 21 these masked men at Hashmir Masjid attacked the Nimazis with iron nails. One person was injured. 


“The injured person raised hue and cry and that arrested our attention. We rushed to the spot and chased these men who were wearing mask and iron nails. As soon as they saw us they run away and to our amazement an army vehicle picked them up,” said a local on pleading anonymity fearing reprisal from the army. 


Locals allege that this is going on for the past one week. The terrorized village includes, Ayat Mohallah, Ajaar, Garpora, and Nowpora. 


The locals also alleged that the Station House Officer (SHO) didn’t pick up the phone when called. “When we went to the police station to complain, police didn’t open the door of the station,” they added.  








WOMEN/CHILDREN KILLED





July 20:Unidentified persons hurled a grenade near the Gulmarg Sumo stand at 5 pm killing a tourist, Ashok Kumar and a teenage pony walla identified as Muhammad Yousuf Chopan, 13, son of Jalaluddin of Baba Reshi.


Police said at around 5 pm, suspected militants lobbed the grenade at the telephone exchange Gulmarg where a paramilitary guard was posted. 


The grenade missed the target and exploded in the foreground, killing the tourist Ashok Kumar, 36, son of Ram Shanker of Uttar Pradesh on the spot while as Yousuf Chopan succumbed to his injuries on way to the hospital.


July 24: Five people, including four children, were killed and 25 others injured when an unidentified person hurled a grenade in the general bus stand at Batmaloo. Five members of the ill-fated family killed in the blast were identified as Rubeena Khatoon (32), Khushboo alias Tabina (12), Mohammad Ayoob (8), Abdul Qayoom (5) and Adil (4). 


Police said an unidentified person hurled a hand grenade around noon on a group of people boarding a Jammu-bound bus, many of whom were said to be migrant laborers.


Eyewitnesses said four people died on the spot while 26 others were injured. One person died later. Police said the dead belonged to the family of a migrant labourer, Muhammad Afroz. The children are said to be locals as their mother was previously married to one Muhammad Shafi of Khayam Chowk, Srinagar.


July 24:The gunmen in village Bari of Marmat area of Doda district massacred four members of a family including two women. The deceased were identified as Ajima Begum, 45,wife of Ghulam Hassan, daughter Ashiya Bano, 12 and Ghulam Hassan's five-year-old nephew Tausif.


          Official reports said that three gunmen entered in the house of Ghulam Hassan, son of Mohammad Ramzan of Bari in the midnight hours and opened indiscriminate fire killing the individual along with his wife Ajima Begum, daughter Ashiya Bano instantaneously. Ghulam Hassan's five-year-old nephew Tausif and son Mohammad Yasir, 18, were seriously injured and later evacuated to District Hospital Doda. Moreover, Tausif later succumbed to his injuries.
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Indian’s ambassador to Brussels Dipak Chatterjee while responding to the EP’s resolution said: “The Indian government is aware that an urgent resolution on missing persons in Jammu and Kashmir has been adopted in the European Parliament by 54 MEPs who were present of the 785 MEPs. This resolution though by a miniscule number of MEPs will no doubt receive the consideration it deserves from the government of India,” to EuAsiaNews.   





RIZVI IS A NOTED FILMMAKER FROM KASHMIR WHO HAS WON NUMEROUS AWARDS INCLUDING A NATIONAL AWARD FOR HIS DOCUMENTARY FILM





ACCUSED POLICE OFFICER HAD CONCEALED MOBILE, SIM CARD IN SOG CAMP


July 29: A police official and a key witness in the fake encounter case on Tuesday revealed before a court that the accused assistant sub inspector, Farooq Ahmad Gadoo had hid the mobile phone and SIM card of carpernter Abdul Rehman Padder and brief case of Nazir Ahmad Deka in SOG camp Ganderbal. 


 	Deposing before the principal district and session judge the witness, sub inspector Irshad Ahmad revealed that on January 29, 2007, he along with the Station House Officer Muhammad Asgar went to the office of Superintendent of Police, South Kashmir.  He said a police team was questioning Gadoo who revealed that he had hid the SIM and the brief case in the SOG camp at Ganderbal.


“A police team led by SP south went to the SOG camp and recovered the SIM and brief case from the Gadoo’s room. He had hid both the things under the bed,” Irshad said.
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